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CORPORATE
PROFILE
Mission Statement
Our mission is to be a catalyst for the development of a dynamic small to medium sized business
sector through the provision of non-traditional financing instruments and professional expertise
to businesses in the productive sectors, with strong profit making and growth potential.

Guiding Philosophy
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited is committed to fostering the growth of young, dynamic
Barbadian firms with superior entrepreneurial talent.

Board of Directors
The business of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) is conducted under the oversight of the
Board of Directors. As of March 31, 2022 EGFL’s Board of Directors was composed of the 8
members shown.

Principal Activities
On January 2, 1998 Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) commenced operations as a limited
liability company to provide venture capital, advisory services and technical assistance to its
client companies in the small and medium sized enterprise (SME) sector.

Within a few years of its inception, EGFL’s core activities evolved to include fund management
services to a number of dedicated, sector-specific Funds established by the Government of
Barbados to provide financing to assist with the retooling of the productive sectors of the
economy.

These developments have enabled EGFL to cater to a wider cross-section of businesses in
fulfilling its mandate of providing developmental finance to the critical SME sector.
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After two years of being buffeted by the COVID-19
pandemic and three years of economic decline, the
Barbados economy expanded by an estimated
1.4% for 2021 due to improvements in the
manufacturing and distribution sectors and a
rebound in the tourism sector. The continuation of
this recovery into the first quarter of 2022 is
expected to revitalise the business climate, boost
investor confidence, and benefit our clients across
the Funds Under Management.

The resources provided by the Barbados
Employment and Sustainable Transformation Fund
(BEST) and the moratoria extended to clients of the
Tourism Loan Fund (TLF) and Small Hotels
Investment Fund (SHIF) played a critical role in
positioning many businesses within the hospitality
sector to respond effectively to the recovery in
visitor numbers in late 2021 and early 2022. Further,
as the improvements in tourism begin stimulating
the other spheres of the economy, the need for loan
moratoria has receded. Therefore, our attention
will now turn to helping our clients stabilize their
businesses, while positioning them for future
growth. To this end, we have implemented
measures to deal with the loan arrears which have
accumulated for some of our clients over the past
few years. This will be an ongoing exercise.

As lockdowns and restrictions which were
implemented to deal with the pandemic dwindle,
other dark clouds gathered on the horizon. The
geopolitical conflict in Ukraine and the rigid
enforcement of China’s Zero-Covid policy have
helped to stoke inflationary pressures. Since we
import most of the essentials needed to run our
lives and our economy, there are fears that
increased prices could stymie the nascent rebirth
seen in the economy.

Government has started to implement targeted
measures to deal with the upsurge in inflation,
which continues to erode consumer purchasing
power. These efforts, which may have to be
expanded, are essential to ensure that Barbadians
have enough disposable income and confidence to
support the local businesses community. After two
tough years in the economic wilderness, few
businesses may be equipped to endure a
continuation of the economic malaise.

As we continue to diligently manage our
operations, Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL)
generated a surplus of $1.24 million for the year to
March 2022. Additionally, disbursements from
EGFL and the Funds Under Management during the
year totalled $60.27million, almost triple the $20.93
million provided to clients the previous year.
Approvals for the financial year 2022 totalled
$21.91 million.

Despite these achievements, the focus remains on
improving our operational efficiency and
effectiveness, especially as our reporting
requirements increase. Given the critical role EGFL
has played and continues to perform in the
development of the SME sector, we maintain our
efforts to examine and improve our policies and
structure, and those of the Funds Under
Management, to better serve our clients in the small
business sector.

Economic Review

Despite the negative impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the local economy during most of
2021, the robust growth experienced in the last
quarter, preliminarily estimated at 11.7%, led to
expansion estimated at 1.4% for the year. The
return to growth was led by increased activity in the
distribution sector and a rebound in manufacturing
as greater volumes of rum, cement and printed
labels were produced.

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

CONDÉ RILEY
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Increasing oil prices and surging freight costs
occasioned by broken supply chains led to
significant inflationary pressures during 2021. The
products most affected were fuels and food as the
Central Bank reported that the retail price index at
November 2021 was 4.6% higher than it was at
December 2020. Since these items constitute a
large portion of the average consumer’s budget,
their spending power was curtailed.

As the government continued to access loans from
foreign financial institutions for budgetary support
and for specific policy initiatives, the foreign
reserves increased by $398 million to reach $3.06
billion by the end of 2021. It was estimated that
these reserves could cover 40 weeks of imports
based on the 2021 consumption rate.

Overall, economic actors continued to be cautious
in their financing decisions as credit to the non-
financial private sector by deposit-taking
institutions declined by 1.7% during 2021
compared to the prior year. The declines for
commercial banks were evident in residential
mortgages and credit card balances. However,
utilities saw an increase in their loan balances and
the distribution and tourism sectors registered
increases in working capital outstanding as some
positive momentum materialised in those areas.

The growth experienced by the economy in the
latter part of 2021 carried over into early 2022 as
improvements continued in tourism, manufacturing
and distribution. This recovery led to an increase in
economic output of 11.8% during the first quarter of
2022 and the monetary authorities projected that
once the recovery in tourism is sustained the local
economy could grow by at least 10% for the full year
2022.

Performance Review

The BEST Fund was responsible for most of the
$21.91 million in approvals and $60.27 million in
disbursements achieved during the year under
review as the hospitality sector availed itself of the
assistance provided by government. More details
on the financing activity and performance of each
Fund are outlined below.

The Agricultural Development Fund (ADF)
generated revenue of $384,000 in 2022, a modest
improvement when compared to income of
$367,000 in 2021. The Fund incurred a net loss of
$1.22 million in 2022, moderately higher than the
shortfall of $1.00 million in 2021. Despite a 100.0%
reduction in loan write-offs, the decline in financial
performance was primarily due to a significant rise
in impairment losses, which increased from
$177,000 in 2021 to $996,000 in 2022.

In 2022, approvals totalled $350,000, compared to
$463,000 in 2021. Loan disbursements recorded for
2021 and 2022 measured $188,000 and $578,000
respectively. No grant disbursements were
recorded in 2021 or 2022. Consequently, since the
Fund’s inception, total grant disbursements
remained at $104.92 million, while loan and equity
distributions totalled $41.53 million. There were no
capital injections to the Fund for the year ended
March 2022.

The Disaster Relief Revolving Fund, a sub-Fund of
the ADF supported six (6) applications totalling
$135,000 during the year under review. Cumulative
approvals and disbursements for this sub-Fund
totalled $2.11 million and $1.85 million respectively
at March 31, 2022.

For the financial year under review, $53.37 million
was disbursed from the BEST Fund, bringing
cumulative disbursements to $68.05 million at
March 31, 2022. Of the cumulative disbursements,
$66.55 million was used to assist in sustaining 2,431
employees at beneficiary companies and $1.50
million was directed towards transformational
investments as clients sought to improve their
businesses. Fifty (50) companies have benefited
from employee re-engagement disbursements
while thirteen (13) have accessed funds for
transformational investments. Approvals for 2022
amounted to $14.19 million.

The Energy Smart Fund (ESF) continued to perform
creditably, recording net profits of $230,000 and
$194,000 in 2021 and 2022 respectively. The
decline in net profit for 2022 was primarily
attributable to a 19.72% reduction in interest
income, falling from $634,000 in 2021 to $509,000
in 2022.

The ESF was fully committed in 2017, but a
supplemental injection of $2.50 million in May 2019
from the Government of Barbados, along with
cumulative loan reflows, was utilised to finance the
commercial sector’s continued high demand for
renewable energy (RE), energy conservation (EC)
and energy efficiency (EE) solutions.
Notwithstanding a constrained resource base, the
ESF approved loan funding totalling $470,000 in
2022 compared to approved loans of $1.50 million
in the prior year. Since inception, the Fund has
recorded cumulative loan disbursements of $25.31
million to the SME sector. Under the Technical
Assistance Facility, grants totalling $2.69 million
have been distributed to undertake feasibility
studies, energy audits and other associated
activities.

In view of the favourable impacts of RE, EC and EE
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technologies, coupled with Government’s pledge
to enhance the island’s energy security, the SME
sector is poised to benefit from the ESF II, which has
received funds to commence operations.

The revenue generating performance of the
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund (IIEF)
improved as interest income increased by 62% to
total $314,000 by the end of March 2022, compared
to $194,000 at March 2021. However, the Fund
incurred a loss of $52,000 following a shortfall of
$133,000 during the previous year. Approvals and
disbursements during the period tallied $550,000,
bringing total funds disbursed from the IIEF since
inception to $23.24 million. There were no capital
injections to the Fund during the financial year
under review.

The Innovation Fund continues to await a new
framework to govern its future decisions. As a
result, no investment approvals or disbursements
were made during the period. In light of this
inactivity, the Fund incurred another loss of
$106,000 during the financial year. Given the
acknowledged importance of entrepreneurship
and innovation to the future development of the
Barbadian economy, EGFL looks forward to the
timely restructuring and re-capitalisation of the
Fund.

Revenue for the SHIF increased by 6.4% compared
to the previous year to total $824,000, a reflection of
the improved performance of the sector during the
last two quarters of the financial year as the
pandemic restrictions eased. However, the Fund
incurred a significant loss of $1.25 million with a
provision for loan losses of $935,000 as the major
contributing factor. The delinquency rate at the end
of the financial year continued to be higher than the
pre-pandemic level and this was a major
contributing factor to this outcome. The Fund
approved and disbursed $65,000 during the period
and cumulative loan funds approved since
inception now total $53.82 million.

A study of the small hotel sector has been
completed and a proposal for the restructuring of
the Fund is being considered by stakeholders. The
importance of this sub-sector to tourism on the
island cannot be underestimated, therefore the
decisions to be made in the new financial year will
be critical to securing the sustainability of the SHIF
and its clients in the future.

The TLF experienced a lacklustre financial
performance in 2022. Though there was a steady
uptick in tourism activity since mid-2021, long-stay
and cruise arrivals remain well below pre-COVID-19
levels. Consequently, hoteliers’ interest in the Fund
remained subdued in 2022. Considering the

challenging market conditions that have negatively
impacted the tourism sector, EGFL made
concessions to assist TLF clients where feasible.

Whilst there were no applications or approvals for
the preceding year, the Fund approved $5.60
million in 2022. The TLF incurred a net loss of $1.35
million in 2022, a significant deterioration when
compared to a net loss of $139,000 in 2021. This
was largely due to a substantial increase in the
provision for loan losses which rose sharply from
$113,000 in 2021 to $2.48 million in 2022. Since its
launch, the TLF has approved loans tallying $77.45
million, while cumulative disbursements totalled
$55.42 million at March 2022.

Summary and Financial Outlook for 2022-2023

Not only did the country have to battle the
COVID-19 virus during 2021 but it was also
impacted by two significant natural disasters. Large
quantities of ash blanketed the island from the
eruption of La Soufriere volcano in St. Vincent on
April 9, 2021. Then, 3 months later, on July 2, 2021,
Hurricane Elsa became the first cyclone to affect the
island in 66 years. The resulting damage proved to
be disruptive and government intervention was
required for clean-up and rebuilding efforts. These
catastrophes also reinforced our vulnerability to the
forces of nature.

Given the central nature of the tourism industry to
Barbados’ economic health and recovery efforts, it
is vital that the recent improvements seen in this
sector continue. However, resuscitation will require
significant and sustained effort across the board,
given the shortfall to be bridged. The Central Bank
noted that despite the rebound in long-stay arrivals
witnessed in the first quarter of 2022, it represented
only 55% of the arrivals for the corresponding
period of 2019.

There are other factors complicating the sector’s
recovery. The rapid increase in the price of oil due
to the Russia – Ukraine conflict has made travel to
the island more expensive. This has been
exacerbated by the appreciation of the United
States dollar against other major world currencies,
including the pound, the currency of the United
Kingdom, our major source market for visitors.

Unsurprisingly, the business community was
generally hesitant to undertake major investments
during the review period, given the prevailing
economic climate in the country and wider world.
The continued delay in starting several long-
mooted construction projects, many of which are
intimately linked to the tourism industry, may reflect
this reality.
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Government’s ability to fill this economic void by
implementing a substantial capital works
programme is constrained by a deteriorating fiscal
position precipitated by reduced tax receipts and
pandemic spending. Ultimately, these deficits have
increased the country’s already elevated debt
levels. The country’s chronically high debt suggests
that there are structural problems which need to be
addressed.

Efforts to reduce the country’s dependence on
tourism have borne some fruit over the last five to
ten years as the renewable energy sector has
started to blossom. The recapitalisation of the ESF
will allow EGFL to continue its efforts to build-out
this emerging sub-sector. However, the green
energy sector is still comparatively small, and the
difficulties encountered in the permitting process
have reduced some of the momentum previously
achieved. Consequently, our economic recovery in
the short to medium term is still largely linked to the
recovery in visitor numbers, which is tied to the
economic health of our main source markets for
visitors. Notwithstanding this fact, we must
redouble our efforts to achieve economic
diversification, increase productivity and create a
more sustainable economy in the long term.

Therefore, we have to hope that the economic
stresses being experienced in our sourcemarkets as
a result of the Russia - Ukraine conflict, supply chain
disruptions and soaring inflation can be resolved in
the near future so that the local economy and our
clients can see a rebound in business activity.

Community Outreach

EGFL’s Partnership with Notes of Praise Inc.

During the financial year, we continued our
commitment to furthering and strengthening our
community outreach through our give-back
programmewith schools in the surrounding districts.

In our effort to support and enhance the
educational and developmental programmes at the
St. Mary’s Primary School, we partnered with Notes
of Praise Inc., a registered and accredited music
school in Barbados, to award a music scholarship to
a class 3 student of the school. We are pleased to
report that nine-year-old Kishawn Joe, who has an
aptitude for the creative arts, was the first student to
be awarded this scholarship which includes a guitar
and guitar lessons for one year. We congratulate
Kishawn and look forward to hearing about his
musical achievements in the future. EGFL plans to
donate a twelve-string guitar to Notes of Praise Inc.
as an award to one of the school’s best guitar
students at the end of the term.

Charity in Action

As the country continued to battle with the
economic and social impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our communities, EGFL sustained its
efforts to give back by providing financial assistance
toWestbury Primary School to aid with the purchase
of additional hand sanitizers for the students.

EGFL’s Scholarship Programme

EGFL demonstrated its commitment to supporting
the University of the West Indies (UWI), Cave Hill
Campus by offering scholarships to two students of
the University. We are pleased to report that Ms.
Aaliyah Yearwood and Ms. Rashonna Kellman were
the recipients of the EGFL Scholarships for the
academic year 2021/2022.

We have also pledged to continue sponsorship of
scholarships for two deserving students for the
upcoming 2022/2023 academic year. We extend
congratulations to the two awardees and wish them
success in their studies!
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (‘the
Company’) which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2022 and the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited as of March 31, 2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized
Entities.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities
(“IFRS for SMEs”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Ernst & Young Ltd
P.O. Box 261
Bridgetown, BB11000
Barbados, W.l.

Street Address
One Welches
Welches
St. Thomas, BB22025
Barbados, W.I.

 Tel:  246 430 3900
Fax: 246 426 9551
        246 430 3879

246 430 1352
www.ey.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholder in accordance with Section 147 of the Companies
Act of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we   might   state to the Company’s
shareholder those matters we are required to state in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s shareholder, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have
formed.

Barbados
5 September 2022
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that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

4

Ernst & Young Ltd is a registered trademark of Ernst & Young Professional Services Ltd

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholder in accordance with Section 147 of the Companies
Act of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we   might   state to the Company’s
shareholder those matters we are required to state in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s shareholder, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have
formed.

Barbados
5 September 2022
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)

Notes
2022

$
2021

$

Revenue
Management fees 16 3,566,516 3,131,443
Evaluation fees 49,280 19,550
Interest on loans and receivables 622,324 611,258
Interest on investments 122,137 147,613
Other 14,622 7,316

4,374,879 3,917,180
Expenses
Operating 2,577,027 2,762,495
Depreciation 9 226,816 227,361
Recovery for investment loss (117,951) -
Gain on disposal of fixed assets (12,786) (27,655)
Impairment loss (recovery) 6 350,526 (9,845)

3,023,632 2,952,356

Net income 1,351,247 964,824

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Re-measurement of defined benefit pension plan 13 (112,643) 259,784

Total comprehensive income 1,238,604 1,224,608

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)

Notes 2022
$

2021
$

Cash flows from operating Activities
Net income 1,351,247 964,824
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 226,816 227,361
Gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment (12,786) (27,655)
Impairment loss (recovery) 6 350,526 (9,845)
Equity investment recovery (117,951) -
Pension credit (62,673) (37,963)

Operating profit before changes in operating
assets and liabilities 1,735,179 1,116,722
Decrease / (increase) in accounts receivable and
prepayments 130,458 (87,590)
(Increase) / decrease in loans receivable, net (1,556,157) 112,487
Decrease in other assets 22,284 15,929
Decrease / (increase) in due from related parties 648,484 (131,092)
(Decrease)/ increase in accounts payable (54,536) 30,682
(Decrease) in deferred shareholder grant - (25,501)

Cash from operations 925,712 1,031,637

Cash flows from investing activities
Sale / (purchase) of investments 2,765,547 (1,020,833)
Purchase of property, plant & equipment 9 (240,215) (324,088)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 29,750 87,500

Net cash from (used in) from investing activities 2,555,082 (1,257,421)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 14 (105,000) (105,000)

Cash used in financing activities (105,000) (105,000)

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,375,794 (330,784)

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 596,031 926,815

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year 3,971,825 596,031

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 14 (105,000) (105,000)

Cash used in financing activities (105,000) (105,000)
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Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 596,031 926,815
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022

9

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated under the Companies Act of
Barbados as a company authorised to issue an unlimited number of Class A common shares and an
unlimited number of Class B common shares without par value.

The address of the Company’s registered office is “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St.
Michael.  The principal activity of the Company is the provision of venture capital and loan financing
to small and medium-sized Barbadian businesses. Additionally, the Company also provides
management services to various Funds operating in the manufacturing, agriculture, tourism and
innovation sectors (see note 16).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on July 28, 2022.

2. Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs)
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

d) Use of estimates and judgments
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates and judgments
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022

10

2. Basis of Preparation, (cont’d)

d) Use of estimates and judgments (cont’d)

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

i. Provision for loan losses

The provision for loan losses is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis. The Company
uses its judgment to select assumptions that reflect the expected timing and amount of future
payments by customers and where applicable the expected net proceeds on realization of
security.

ii. Employee retirement benefits

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme. Measurement of pension costs and
pension obligations for defined benefit plans involves the application of a number of
assumptions and estimates, relating to the discount rate, future salary levels, expected
employee turnover rate, the return on plan assets, annual pension increases, expected
adjustments to the National Insurance Scheme basic amount and demographic factors.
Changes in pension assumptions will affect the pension obligations and pension cost for the
period. Pension obligations are significantly affected by changes in the discount rate, life
expectancy and expected salary and pension adjustments.

iii. Depreciation of property, plant & equipment

The Company assigns useful lives and residual values to property, plant and equipment based
on periodic studies of actual asset lives and the intended use for those assets. Changes in
circumstances such as technological advances, prospective economic utilisation and physical
condition of the assets concerned could result in the actual useful lives or residual values
differing from initial estimates. Where the Company determines that the useful life of
property, plant and equipment should be shortened or residual value reduced, it depreciates
the net book value in excess of the residual value over the revised remaining useful life,
thereby increasing depreciation expense. Any change in asset lives or residual value is
reflected in the Company’s financial statements when the change in estimate is determined.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
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2. Basis of Preparation, (cont’d)

d) Use of estimates and judgments (cont’d)
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
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3. Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these financial statements.

a) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and term deposits with original maturity dates
of 90 days or less.

b) Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value less provisions for estimated irrecoverable
balances.

c) Revenue recognition

Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on
contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest.

Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
liability.

All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements.
Provisions for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to
support the fact that the loan is impaired.

Income from management fees
Income derived from management fees is recognised as it accrues in accordance with the
provisions of separate agreements between the Company and the trustees or sponsors for the funds
under management using contractual interest rates.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022

12

3. Significant Accounting Policies, (cont’d)

d) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

e) Investments, net

Investments comprising term deposits, preferred shares and bonds issued by the Government of
Barbados and initially recognized at cost. A provision for impairment of investments is established
when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of contractual arrangements.

f) Property and equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is provided
on the straight-line basis at rates based on the estimated useful life of each asset. Land is not
depreciated.  The annual rates applied are:

Buildings - 2.0%
Office equipment - 12.5%
Vehicles - 20.0%
Furniture - 20.0%
Computer equipment - 33.3%
Computer software - 100.0%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

g) Deferred shareholder grant

Shareholder grants relating specifically to technical assistance for investees are deferred and
recognised into income as costs are incurred for such technical assistance.



ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED | Annual Report 2022 23

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED
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3. Significant Accounting Policies, (cont’d)
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

h) Pension – defined benefit scheme

The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods,
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Company, the
recognised asset is limited to the present value of the economic benefits available in the form of any
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present
value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum requirements.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprises actuarial gains and losses, the
return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest),
are recognised immediately in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). The Company determines the net
interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to
the then net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense
and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

When the benefits of the plan are changed or when the plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
The Company recognises gains or losses in the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement
occurs.

i) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related
parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022

14

4. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank:

2022
$

2021
$

Cash on hand and at bank 3,971,825 596,031

Cash in bank is comprised mainly of amounts held in current accounts, which do not earn interest.

5. Accounts receivable & prepayments, net

Accounts receivable & prepayments, net are comprised of:

2022
$

2021
$

Accounts receivable 102,445 172,729
Other receivables and prepayments 183,300 276,417

285,745 449,146
Less provision for bad debts - (32,943)

Total accounts receivable and prepayments, net 285,745 416,203

6. Loans Receivable, net

The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $1,500,000 and 15% of the total capitalization of the
Company.  The minimum loan size is limited to $100,000.  Loans shall not be used to purchase land,
buildings or other real estate except where the buildings are to be used for productive purposes.  All
loans shall be repaid within twelve (12) years or less.

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for impairment and
subsequent recoveries are credited to the provision for loan loss in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The Company as the Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive
payment when one of its managed funds recovers any principal and interest in respect of any loan
which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written off the books of the Company.
Such an incentive payment shall be ten percent (10%) on the net amounts recovered.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

h) Pension – defined benefit scheme
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that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
The Company recognises gains or losses in the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement
occurs.

i) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related
parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.
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4. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank:

2022
$

2021
$

Cash on hand and at bank 3,971,825 596,031

Cash in bank is comprised mainly of amounts held in current accounts, which do not earn interest.

5. Accounts receivable & prepayments, net

Accounts receivable & prepayments, net are comprised of:

2022
$

2021
$

Accounts receivable 102,445 172,729
Other receivables and prepayments 183,300 276,417

285,745 449,146
Less provision for bad debts - (32,943)

Total accounts receivable and prepayments, net 285,745 416,203

6. Loans Receivable, net

The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $1,500,000 and 15% of the total capitalization of the
Company.  The minimum loan size is limited to $100,000.  Loans shall not be used to purchase land,
buildings or other real estate except where the buildings are to be used for productive purposes.  All
loans shall be repaid within twelve (12) years or less.

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for impairment and
subsequent recoveries are credited to the provision for loan loss in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The Company as the Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive
payment when one of its managed funds recovers any principal and interest in respect of any loan
which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written off the books of the Company.
Such an incentive payment shall be ten percent (10%) on the net amounts recovered.
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6. Loans Receivable, net (cont’d)

The grace period (i.e., the period during which only interest payments are due and payable) for loans
with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be limited to one year.

For loans with repayment periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years,
the grace period is limited to two (2) years. For loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10)
years the grace period is limited to not more than three (3) years.

Where a construction and/or installation contract is for less than the stipulated grace period, the grace
period will be limited to the length of the construction and/or installation contract.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s).

The maturity structure of loans receivable, gross, is:

2022
$

2021
$

Under 1 year 2,610,880 2,614,343
1 – 5 years 1,498,713 2,101,886
Over 5 years 12,276,709 10,113,916

Total loans receivable 16,386,302 14,830,145

Less loan loss provision:
Balance at start of year (1,950,921) (1,960,766)
Impairment recovery (loss) (350,526) 9,845

Balance at end of year (2,301,447) (1,950,921)

Total loans receivable, net 14,084,855 12,879,224

Loans receivable carry interest rates of 6.5% - 10.5% per annum at the end of 2022 (March 31, 2021:
6.5% - 10.5% per annum).  However, net loans receivable includes the amount of $2,797,656
(March 31, 2021: $2,041,792) relating to staff loans.  These amounts carry interest rates of 3.0% to
3.63 % per annum (March 31, 2021: 3.0% to 3.63% per annum).

The Company has invested in convertible bonds. These bonds are redeemable and bear interest at
annual rates ranging from 8% - 10%.  Any unpaid interest can be converted into shares of the borrower
at $1 per share at the option of the Company. These bonds which are reflected in loans receivable, net,
amount to $238,424 (March 31, 2021:  $238,424).

During the year, there were no bond disbursements (March 31, 2021: $880,000) and no principal
repayments (March 31, 2021: $0.00).
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7. Other assets

Other assets comprise:
2022

$
2021

$

Interest receivable on term deposits 43,500 65,784
Assets transferred from CRL 100 100

Total 43,600 65,884

In 2010, the Government of Barbados made a decision to wind down the operations of CRL Limited
and as a consequence, the existing portfolio of CRL Limited was assigned to the Company in return
for the equivalent value of one (1) non-voting Class B share. These assets are valued at $100 and the
relevant shares were transferred to the Government of Barbados.

8. Investments, net

2022
$

2021
$

Preferred shares 880,000 2,211,451
Less: Provision for investment losses - (1,331,451)

Net balance 880,000 880,000

Commercial deposits 4,077,665 6,725,262
Government-issued Series “B” Bonds 1,452,412 1,452,412

5,530,077 8,177,674

Balances, end of year 6,410,077 9,057,674

The Company has invested in preferred shares which are subject to annual cumulative dividends
ranging from 3.75% to 8% per annum.  The option to convert outstanding dividends into preferred
shares was not exercised during the financial year.   In 2021, the Company invested in 880,000 Class
“A” preferred participating shares at BDS$1.00 per share. The shares are redeemable no later than
March 31, 2031 and attract yearly dividend rates at 3.75% for the first two (2) years, 4.5% for two (2)
years, 5.5% for the following two (2) years and 7.5% for the remaining four (4) years.

Included in investments is an amount of $4,077,665 (March 31, 2021: $6,725,262) representing
commercial deposits with maturity periods greater than 90 days.  At the reporting date the effective
interest rates range from 1.75% to 2.25% per annum (March 31, 2021: 1.75% to 2.25% per annum).

The bonds are divided into strips which have terms ranging from five years to fifteen years, and bear
interest at 3% per annum for the first three years, 2.5% in year 4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity.
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6. Loans Receivable, net (cont’d)
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at $1 per share at the option of the Company. These bonds which are reflected in loans receivable, net,
amount to $238,424 (March 31, 2021:  $238,424).

During the year, there were no bond disbursements (March 31, 2021: $880,000) and no principal
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and as a consequence, the existing portfolio of CRL Limited was assigned to the Company in return
for the equivalent value of one (1) non-voting Class B share. These assets are valued at $100 and the
relevant shares were transferred to the Government of Barbados.
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ranging from 3.75% to 8% per annum.  The option to convert outstanding dividends into preferred
shares was not exercised during the financial year.   In 2021, the Company invested in 880,000 Class
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commercial deposits with maturity periods greater than 90 days.  At the reporting date the effective
interest rates range from 1.75% to 2.25% per annum (March 31, 2021: 1.75% to 2.25% per annum).

The bonds are divided into strips which have terms ranging from five years to fifteen years, and bear
interest at 3% per annum for the first three years, 2.5% in year 4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity.
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10. Corporation tax

Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Company is exempt
from payment of tax in accordance with Income Tax Act Cap 73 which exempts entities whose funds
have been provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of
the economy.

11. Deferred Shareholder Grant

2022
$

2021
$

Grants for Tourism Industrial Relief Fund 96,136 96,136
Grants for Technical Assistance 130,023 130,023

Total 226,159 226,159

On February 19, 2010, the Government of Barbados announced the creation of a $25 million Tourism
Industrial Relief Fund (TIRF) to assist the tourism accommodation and ancillary services sub-sectors
to remain in business and maintain employment levels during the global economic recession. This
Fund is administered by the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL). At the end of the year ended
March 31, 2022, $96,136 (March 31, 2021: $96,136) remained undisbursed.

The Company receives grants from the Government of Barbados to contribute to the financial expertise
of the borrowers. The Company assesses requests from its borrowers on an individual basis to
determine the allocation of the funds received. At the end of the year ended March 31, 2022, $130,023
(March 31, 2021: $130,023) remained undisbursed.

12. Due from Related Parties

2022
$

2021
$

Agricultural Development Fund 30,635 160,808
Energy Smart Fund 129,333 228,525
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 25,205 75,921
Innovation Fund 7,759 28,716
Small Hotels Investment Fund 92,785 280,915
Tourism Loan Fund 84,205 243,521

Total Due from Related Parties 369,922 1,018,406

Amounts due from related parties consist mainly of management fees in accordance with the
provisions of separate agreements between the Company and the Trustees or Sponsors of the Funds
under management using contractual rates (see note 16).
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12. Due from Related Parties (cont’d)

Related party transactions
The related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those prevailing in an arm’s length
transaction only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

13. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Company invested in a defined benefit pension plan during the year ended December 31, 2005.
The assets of the Plan are administered on behalf of the trustees by Sagicor Life Incorporated.  The
amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) are as follows:

2022
$

2021
$

Statement of Financial Position
Present value of obligation at end of year 3,818,946 3,346,634
Minus: Fair value of plan assets at end of year (4,387,536) (3,965,194)

Asset recognised in the statement of financial position (568,590) (618,560)

Current service cost (reduced by Employee contributions) 85,190 82,682
Net interest on net defined benefit liability (42,426) (20,196)

Expense recognised in profit and loss 42,764 62,486

Actuarial gain on obligation (25,991) 122,045
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (86,652) 137,739

Re-measurements recognised in OCI (112,643) 259,784

2022
$

2021
$

Movement in net asset recognised in the statement of
financial position

Net asset at the start of the year (618,560) (320,813)
Amount recognised in profit and loss 42,764 62,486
Re-measurements recognised in OCI 112,643 (259,784)
Contributions - Employer (105,437) (100,449)

Net asset at the end of the year (568,590) (618,560)
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13. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (cont’d)

2022
$

2021
$

Movement in present value of obligation
Present value of obligation at start of year 3,346,634 3,281,667
Interest expense 262,612 248,356
Current service cost 184,306 120,834
Less: benefits paid (597) (182,178)
Actuarial gain on obligation 25,991 (122,045)

Present value of obligation at year end 3,818,946 3,346,634

2022
$

2021
$

Movement in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start of year 3,965,194 3,602,480
Actual return on plan assets 218,386 406,291
Contributions paid – total 204,553 138,601
Benefits paid (597) (182,178)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 4,387,536 3,965,194

Plan assets are equally distributed between equity investments and government bonds.

Principal actuarial assumptions
Discount rate at end of year 7.50% 7.50%
Future salary increases 6.00% 6.00%
Future pension increases 0.00% 0.00%
Future changes in National Insurance Scheme ceiling 2.50% 2.50%

Mortality 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Static Tables for Males and Females

Historical information

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Present value of the obligation (3,818,946) (3,346,634) (3,281,667) (2,935,072) (2,633,105)
Fair value of plan assets 4,387,536 3,965,194 3,602,480 3,377,642 3,175,184
Surplus 568,590 618,560 320,813 442,570 542,079
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12. Due from Related Parties (cont’d)
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13. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (cont’d)
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Fair value of plan assets 4,387,536 3,965,194 3,602,480 3,377,642 3,175,184
Surplus 568,590 618,560 320,813 442,570 542,079
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13. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (cont’d)

The Plan invests new contributions 50% in the Sagicor (Bonds) Fund and 50% in the Sagicor (Equity)
Fund. The total Fund is invested 49% in the Sagicor (Bonds) Fund and 51% in the Sagicor (Equity)
Fund. The unaudited asset mixes of these Funds are as follows:

Asset Class Bonds Fund
(%)

Equity
Fund (%)

Equities 5 82
Bonds 64 3
Mortgages 24 3
Real Estate - 8
Deposits 1 -
Cash 6 4
All 100 100

Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the projected benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used.  The table
below summarises how the projected benefit obligation measured at the end of the reporting period
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25%

+0.25% +0.25%

Discount rate 3,720,715 3,923,018
Salary increases 3,885,121 3,754,698

14. Share capital

2022
$

2021
$

Class A Shares – 35,000 shares – no par value 3,500,000 3,500,000
Class B Shares – 138,731 shares – no par value 13,872,109 13,872,109

17,372,109 17,372,109

The holders of Class “A” shares are entitled to receive dividends in respect of their shareholding and
to vote for the election of directors of the Company.  Any holder of 10,000 or more Class “A” shares
is entitled to appoint one director.

With regard to distribution or liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “A” shareholders shall
receive, before any distribution is made to the Class “B” shareholders, the stated capital of these shares
plus an amount equivalent to a 10% annual rate of return on their initial investment in the Company,
after the discharge of all liabilities of the Company.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022

22

14. Share capital (cont’d)

Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the
Government.  Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the
Company.  Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders
shall receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual
rate of return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of
their entitlement as stated above.

On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were
re-designated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.

The Company declared a dividend of $105,000 (March 31, 2021: $105,000). This dividend represented
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.

15. Commitments

At the reporting date, there were three (3) outstanding loan commitments totalling $3,043,652 (March
31, 2021: $205,616).

16. Management Fees

Management fees recognised as income (net of VAT) are as follows:

2022
$

2021
$

Agricultural Development Fund 476,476 557,175
BEST Programme 700,000 100,000
Energy Smart Fund 242,391 319,040
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund 823 54
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 257,622 258,954
Innovation Fund 99,174 102,924
Small Hotels Investment Fund 950,772 959,591
Tourism Loan Fund 839,258 833,705

3,566,516 3,131,443

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 were
$369,922 and $1,018,406 respectively.
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13. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (cont’d)
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Fund. The total Fund is invested 49% in the Sagicor (Bonds) Fund and 51% in the Sagicor (Equity)
Fund. The unaudited asset mixes of these Funds are as follows:
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would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25%

+0.25% +0.25%

Discount rate 3,720,715 3,923,018
Salary increases 3,885,121 3,754,698

14. Share capital

2022
$

2021
$

Class A Shares – 35,000 shares – no par value 3,500,000 3,500,000
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The holders of Class “A” shares are entitled to receive dividends in respect of their shareholding and
to vote for the election of directors of the Company.  Any holder of 10,000 or more Class “A” shares
is entitled to appoint one director.

With regard to distribution or liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “A” shareholders shall
receive, before any distribution is made to the Class “B” shareholders, the stated capital of these shares
plus an amount equivalent to a 10% annual rate of return on their initial investment in the Company,
after the discharge of all liabilities of the Company.
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14. Share capital (cont’d)

Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the
Government.  Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the
Company.  Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders
shall receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual
rate of return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of
their entitlement as stated above.

On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were
re-designated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.

The Company declared a dividend of $105,000 (March 31, 2021: $105,000). This dividend represented
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.

15. Commitments

At the reporting date, there were three (3) outstanding loan commitments totalling $3,043,652 (March
31, 2021: $205,616).

16. Management Fees

Management fees recognised as income (net of VAT) are as follows:

2022
$

2021
$

Agricultural Development Fund 476,476 557,175
BEST Programme 700,000 100,000
Energy Smart Fund 242,391 319,040
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund 823 54
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 257,622 258,954
Innovation Fund 99,174 102,924
Small Hotels Investment Fund 950,772 959,591
Tourism Loan Fund 839,258 833,705

3,566,516 3,131,443

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 were
$369,922 and $1,018,406 respectively.
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14. Share capital (cont’d)

Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the
Government.  Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the
Company.  Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders
shall receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual
rate of return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of
their entitlement as stated above.

On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were
re-designated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.

The Company declared a dividend of $105,000 (March 31, 2021: $105,000). This dividend represented
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.

15. Commitments

At the reporting date, there were three (3) outstanding loan commitments totalling $3,043,652 (March
31, 2021: $205,616).

16. Management Fees

Management fees recognised as income (net of VAT) are as follows:
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2021
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Agricultural Development Fund 476,476 557,175
BEST Programme 700,000 100,000
Energy Smart Fund 242,391 319,040
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund 823 54
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 257,622 258,954
Innovation Fund 99,174 102,924
Small Hotels Investment Fund 950,772 959,591
Tourism Loan Fund 839,258 833,705

3,566,516 3,131,443

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 were
$369,922 and $1,018,406 respectively.
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14. Share capital (cont’d)

Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the
Government.  Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the
Company.  Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders
shall receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual
rate of return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of
their entitlement as stated above.

On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were
re-designated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.

The Company declared a dividend of $105,000 (March 31, 2021: $105,000). This dividend represented
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.

15. Commitments

At the reporting date, there were three (3) outstanding loan commitments totalling $3,043,652 (March
31, 2021: $205,616).

16. Management Fees

Management fees recognised as income (net of VAT) are as follows:

2022
$

2021
$

Agricultural Development Fund 476,476 557,175
BEST Programme 700,000 100,000
Energy Smart Fund 242,391 319,040
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund 823 54
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 257,622 258,954
Innovation Fund 99,174 102,924
Small Hotels Investment Fund 950,772 959,591
Tourism Loan Fund 839,258 833,705

3,566,516 3,131,443

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 were
$369,922 and $1,018,406 respectively.
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Skeete, Best & Co. Chartered Accountants 
Tudor Bridge, St. Michael 

Barbados, W.I. 
               Tel. (246) 537-6626 Fax. (246) 537-5348 

Email: damienskeete@skeetebest.com Website: www.skeetebest.com 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Management Committee of the 
Agricultural Development Fund 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of the Agricultural Development Fund (the “Fund”), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2022, and the statement of 
comprehensive loss, statement of changes in fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 
  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Fund as at March 31, 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs).  
 
Basis for Opinion   
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilit ies of Management and Those Charged w ith Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the IFRSs for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. 
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Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Development Accumulated
Fund Deficit Total

$ $ $

Balance at March 31, 2020 23,187,026           (11,039,716)         12,147,310           

Net loss for the year -                      (1,001,387)           (1,001,387)           

Balance at March 31, 2021 23,187,026           (12,041,103)         11,145,923           

Net loss for the year -                      (1,215,990)           (1,215,990)           

Balance at March 31, 2022 23,187,026           (13,257,093)         9,929,933            

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
Year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

 
2022 2021

$ $
Revenue
Other income (Note 6) 57,043           35,355             
Interest on deposits 18,168           35,946             
Interest on loans 309,094         296,139           

384,305         367,440           
Expenses
Bank charges 189                 96                   
Impairment losses (Note 7) 995,537         177,473           
Loans written off -                 491,739           
Management Committee fees 2,440             2,560              
Management fees (Note 5) 559,860         654,681           
Professional fees 42,269           42,278             

1,600,295      1,368,827        

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (1,215,990)    (1,001,387)       

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year (1,215,990)     (1,001,387)     
Adjustment for:
   Loans writen-off -                  491,739         
   Provision for impairment losses 995,537          177,473         

Operating loss before working capital changes (220,453)        (332,175)       
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable (2,442)             74,591          
Loans disbursed (577,640)        (334,392)       
Loans repaid 159,873          81,002          
(Purchase) sale of short term investment (17,894)          977,438         
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable (8)                    3,588            
(Decrease) increase in due to related company (130,173)        9,995            

Cash (used in) provided by operations (788,737)        480,047         

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (788,737)        480,047         

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year 1,267,919       787,872         

Cash and cash equivalents - end of the year 479,182          1,267,919      

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

8
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                           
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

9 

1. Establishment and purpose  
 

The Agricultural Development Fund (the “Fund”) was established in Barbados by an Act of 
Parliament on December 12, 2001.  Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of 
Agriculture, are paid into this Fund. These resources are used to finance projects and 
programmes that are designed for the improved development of agriculture in Barbados. 
 
The Fund’s operations commenced on March 28, 2002. 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 

 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for 
SMEs) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
Basis of measurement  
 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following 
assets are stated at their fair value: financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 
and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale. 
 
Use of estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported 
in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                           
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

10 

2.  Significant accounting policies… continued 
  

Standards, amendments and interpretations 
 
There were no new standards and amendments to the IFRS for SMEs during the period ended 
March 31, 2022. 
 
Foreign currencies 

Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates are included in the statement of comprehensive loss. 

Taxation 

The Fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap 73. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

  
Cash and cash equivalents are short term highly liquid investments which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash without notice and which are within three (3) months 
of maturity when acquired. These are shown at amortised cost. 
 
Short term investments 
 
Short term investments are investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of 
cash without notice and which are within three (3 ) to twelve (12) months of maturity when 
acquired.  These are shown at amortised cost. 

 
Financial instruments 
 

i) Classification 
 

Originated loans are loans created by the Fund providing money to a debtor other than 
those created with the intention of short-term profit taking. Originated loans comprise 
loans to customers.  
 
Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that the Fund has the intent and ability to hold to maturity. 

 
Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are not financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss, originated by the Fund, or held-to-maturity. Available-for-sale 
instruments include certain equity investments. 
 

ii) Recognition 
 

The Fund recognises financial assets on the date it commits to purchasing the assets 
or originating loans. From this date, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value of assets are recognised. 
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Year ended March 31, 2022 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
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2.  Significant accounting policies… continued 
 
 Financial instruments… continued 
 

iii) Measurement 
 

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value 
based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any deduction 
for transaction costs. Where the instrument is not actively traded or quoted on 
recognised exchanges, fair value is determined using discounted cash flow analysis. 
Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are 
based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market related rate 
at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. 

 
Any available-for-sale asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and where fair value cannot be reliably measured is stated at cost, including 
transaction costs less impairment losses. 

 
Gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of available-for-sale investments 
subsequent to initial recognition are accounted for as changes in the investment 
revaluation reserve. 

   
All originated loans and held-to-maturity assets are measured at amortised costs less 
impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. 
Premiums and discounts including initial transaction costs are included in the carrying 
amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate 
of the instrument. 

 
Impairment 
 
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each financial year end to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
loss. 
 

When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the 
cumulative loss that had been recognised in reserves is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount 
of the cumulative loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss. 
 

An originated loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety 
days or more or if there is objective evidence that the fund will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the contractual terms of the loan. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
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(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
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2.  Significant accounting policies… continued 
 
 Impairment… continued 

 
i) Calculation of recoverable amount 

 
The recoverable amount of the Fund’s originating loans is calculated as the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees 
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at the initial recognition of these financial assets). 
 
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessment of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 

ii) Reversals of impairment 
 

An impairment loss in respect of a loan carried at amortised cost is reversed if the 
subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.  
 
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 
Revenue recognition 

 
Loans and investments 

 
Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis for investments, and all other loans other 
than non-accrual loans, using the effective interest method. When a loan is classified as non-
accrual, accrued but uncollected interest is reversed against income of the current period, 
unless the loan, including accrued interest, is fully secured and in the process of collection. 
Thereafter, interest income is recognised only after the loan reverts to performing status. A 
loan is classified as non-accrual when repayments are ninety (90) days or more in arrears. 
 
Grants  
 
The Fund provides grants to the agricultural sector to finance projects which contribute to the 
long-term development and sustainability of agriculture in Barbados. Such grants, when 
disbursed, are recognised in the accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund.  
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3. Cash equivalents 

This represents cash held at bank. 
                                     
  
4. Short-term investments   

This is a time deposit placed with a financial institution. 
  
Financial Institution                 Date of Maturity         Interest Rate             Principal               
                        $ 
2022 
 

 Capita Financial May 17, 2022 1.75%   1,040,456 
 
      1,040,456 

2021 
 

         Capita Financial  May 17, 2021 1.75%   1,022,562 
     
      1,022,562 

 
5. Related party transactions 

 
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of the 
Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%. 
 
Charges of $559,860 (2021 - $654,681) were incurred during the year in respect of 
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.  At March 31, 2022, the 
related party balances were as follows: 
 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
 
Due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited       30,635 160,808 
 
     30,635 160,808 
 
These balances are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand. 
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6. Available-for-sale investments 

Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc. 

The Fund had invested $4,000,000 in 2% cumulative, redeemable, convertible Class A 
preferred shares at $1 per share in Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc. (ECCI) to be 
redeemed no later than March 31, 2015 at a price not greater than $3.32 per share. These 
shares were not redeemed at the stipulated date of March 31, 2015.  In 2016 the Fund 
approved a 5 year extension of the redemption date. The Fund’s total investment was 
$4,000,000. 
 
Impairment allowance recognised on this investment at year end was $4,000,000 (2021 - 
$4,000,000). 
 
The West Indies Sugar & Trading Company Lim ited (WISTCL) 
 
The Fund had invested $3,555,769 in 7% cumulative, redeemable, convertible class A preferred 
shares at a price of $1 per share in WISTL. Impairment allowance recognised on this 
investment was $3,555,769. At the end of the year 2020 the shares had a net carrying value 
of $0. 
 
Following instructions issued in 2017 by the Ministry of Agriculture, Food, Fisheries and Water 
Resource Management the Management Committee of the Fund agreed to accept $1 as full 
payment for the investment in the shares of WISTCL. It was also agreed that WISTCL will 
allocate 25% of its future annual profits to the Fund over a period of five (5) years to a 
maximum of $1 million. The profit allotment for 2019 of $35,355 and 2020 of $57,043 were 
received and classified in the statement of comprehensive loss as other income.  
 
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
Original cost April 1, 2021 4,000,000 7,555,769 
WISTL investment disposed                                                                 -       (3,555,769) 
 
Original cost March 31, 2022                                                       4,000,000 4,000,000  

  
            Allowance for impairment April 1, 2021                                       (4,000,000)  (7,555,769) 
            Impairment written off on disposal                                                   - 3,555,769   
          
            Allowance for impairment March 31, 2022                                    - (4,000,000) 
 
            Balance available-for-sale investments                                        -     -   
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7. Loans receivable  
 
The loans at year end comprised: 

  Interest rate Outstanding balances 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 % % $ $ 
 
1 year 6.5-7.0 6.5 6,613,377 5,356,335 
2 to 5 years 6.5-7.0 6.5-7.0 2,143,743 2,880,009 
Over 5 years and up to 10 years  5.0-6.5 5.0-7.0 2,116,878 2,219,886 
 Over 10 years and up to 15 years 6.5 6.5    4,687,247 4,687,247  

 
   15,561,244 15,143,477 
 Less: Provision for loan losses    (7,105,164)  (6,109,627) 
 
     8,456,080 9,033,850  
  
   2022 2021 

  $ $ 
 Provision for loan losses 
 Balance at April 1 6,109,627 5,932,154 
 Increase in provision       995,537 177,473  

 Balance at March 31    7,105,164 6,109,627  
   
8. Commitments 
  

At the year end, the following commitments were outstanding: 

 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
 
Loans   429,133 614,426 
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9. Segment reporting 
 

The Fund’s segment reporting system distinguishes between two business segments – 
Commercial division and Developmental division.  The Commercial division encompasses those 
financing activities entered into with the main intention of profit generation while the 
Developmental division encompasses financial support of projects with a social emphasis. 

 
 

2022 
Segment information Commercial 

$ 
Developmental 

$ 
Total 

$ 
 

Total revenue  384,305                -   384,305 
 
Management fees 

   
  559,860 

                
           - 

    
   559,860 

Impairment losses – loans 995,537      - 995,537 
Loans written off -     - - 
Other operating expenses 44,898                   - 44,898      
 
Total expenses 

  
1,600,295 

    
   - 

  
 1,600,295 

 
Comprehensive loss 

  
 (1,215,990) 

   
  - 

 
(1,215,990) 

    
    
Current assets   1,539,265                - 1,539,265 
Non-current assets 8,456,080              - 8,456,080 
Intersegment balances 112,712,950 (112,712,950)         - 
Liabilities      65,412             -   65,412 
Funds received (disbursed) 128,105,336 (104,918,310) 23,187,026 
Accumulated deficit    (5,462,453)   (7,794,640) (13,257,093) 
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9. Segment reporting…continued 
 

2021 
Segment information Commercial 

$ 
Developmental 

$ 
Total 

$ 
 

Total revenue   367,440                -   367,440 
 
Management fees 

   
  654,681 

                
           - 

    
   654,681 

Impairment losses – loans   177,473      -   177,473 
Loans written off 491,739  491,739 
Other operating expenses    44,934                -      44,934 
 
Total expenses 

  
1,368,827 

    
   - 

  
 1,368,827 

 
Comprehensive loss 

  
 (1,001,387) 

   
  - 

 
(1,001,387) 

    
Current assets   2,307,666                - 2,307,666 
Non-current assets 9,033,850              - 9,033,850 
Intersegment balances 112,712,950 (112,712,950)         - 
Liabilities      195,593             -   195,593 
Funds received (disbursed) 128,105,336 (104,918,310) 23,187,026 
Accumulated deficit (4,246,463) (7,794,640) (12,041,103) 

 
10. Capital management policy 

 
Management’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base to support the future development 
of its business. There were no changes in management’s approach to capital management 
during the financial year. 

 
11. COVID-19 
 

During the year 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. As the pandemic continues to evolve, 
governments are implementing additional measures to address the resulting public issues and 
the economic impact. The continued extent of the impact will depend on, but are not limited 
to (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the 
effects on the markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly 
uncertain and cannot be predicted. 
 
Management is not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial statements of the 
Fund as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak. The Fund continues to monitor the COVID-19 
pandemic situation and will take action as necessary in response to the economic disruption. 
 
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure 
in the financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including          
the date of issuance of these financial statements. 
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Skeete, Best & Co. Chartered Accountants 
Tudor Bridge, St. Michael 

Barbados, W.I. 
Tel. (246) 537-6626        Fax. (246) 537-5348 

Email: damienskeete@skeetebest.com Website: www.skeetebest.com  
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
  
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of the Disaster Relief Revolving Fund, (the “Fund”), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2022, and the statements of 
comprehensive loss, changes in fund and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Fund as of March 31, 2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small 
and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). 

 
Basis for Opinion   
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Responsibilit ies of Management and Those Charged w ith Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. 
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Disaster Relief Accumulated
Fund Deficit Total

$ $ $

Balance at March 31, 2020 2,000,000       363,642          2,363,642       

Net loss for the year -                 (69,225)          (69,225)          

Balance at March 31, 2021 2,000,000       294,417          2,294,417       
 

Net loss for the year -                 (968,251)         (968,251)         

Balance at March 31, 2022 2,000,000       (673,834)         1,326,166       

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 4
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
Year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Revenue
Interest on deposits 13,927          23,383            
Interest on loans 10,673          4,205             

24,600          27,588            

Expenses
Bank charges 190                184                
Legal fees 2,615            86,791            
Provision for loan losses (Note 4) 978,929        298                
Professional fees 11,117          9,540             

992,851        96,813            

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (968,251)      (69,225)          

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 5

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year (968,251)        (69,225)              
Adjustment for:
   Provision for loan losses 978,929          298                    

Operating income (loss) before working capital changes 10,678            (68,927)              
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable (215)                37,358                
Decrease (increase) in other receivable 322,188          (366,531)             
Increase in accounts payable 790                  34                      
Loans disbursed - Disaster Relief Fund (44,818)           (8,203)                
Loans repaid - Disaster Relief Fund 9,690              7,905                 
Loans disbursed - Food Security Fund (366,267)        (861,078)             
Loans repaid - Food Security Fund 113,088          15,391                

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 45,134            (1,244,051)          

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 1,077,691       2,321,742           

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 1,122,825       1,077,691           

Represented by:
Cash 326,867          295,423              
Term deposits 795,958          782,268              

1,122,825       1,077,691           

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 6
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1. Establishment and purpose  
 

The Disaster Relief Revolving Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was established in 
Barbados by the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs in his Economic and Financial 
Policies dated December 7, 2004. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of 
Agriculture, are paid into this Fund. These financial resources are managed solely by the 
Agricultural Development Fund (ADF) and are used to provide agricultural producers, who 
have been affected by a disaster, with access to a revolving loan facility that offers lenient 
repayment terms, to assist in restoring their operations to their pre-disaster status. 
 
The Fund’s operations commenced on April 01, 2005 when the first contribution was received. 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 

Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  
 
Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue recognition 

Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive loss on the accrual basis for 
all interest-bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income from loans is 
not accrued if a loan becomes impaired. In subsequent periods, any interest received on 
impaired loans is accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income includes interest earned on 
term deposits. 

Foreign currencies 

Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred.  Differences arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates are included in the statement of income. 

Taxation 

The Fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, CAP 73. 
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2. Significant accounting policies …continued  
 

Loans receivable and allowances for loan losses 
 
Loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortised cost.  These loans are 
secured by promissory notes. 

A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or 
more, or, there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the loan.  The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the loan. The recoverable 
amount of the loan is the present value of the expected cash flows discounted based on the 
interest rate at inception of the loan. 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance. Any subsequent 
amounts recovered are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents  

This includes term deposits of $795,958 (2021 – $782,268) that were placed with financial 
institutions for periods of twelve months. The deposits earn interest at rates of 1.75% per 
annum (2021 – 1.75%) and matured on April 3, 2022. 

    
   Principal          Principal 

   2022 2021 
Financial Institution Date of Maturity  Interest rate        $ $ 
 
Capital Financial 
Services Inc. April 3, 2022 1.75% 795,958 782,268 
    

 Cash     326,867 295,423 
 
   1,122,825 1,077,691 
 

4. Loans receivable 

Loans receivable comprise of amounts outstanding by clients under the Disaster Relief 
Revolving Fund division (“DRRF”) and the newly developed Food Security Fund division 
(“FSF”).  
 
The FSF encompasses financial support to farmers, in collaboration with the Barbados 
Agricultural Development and Management Corporation (“BADMC”) to facilitate the escalation 
of planting programmes, as Government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Loans specifically under the FSF attract interest rates of 2% per annum and are repayable 
over periods ranging from 12 to 36 months.  
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2. Significant accounting policies …continued  
 

Loans receivable and allowances for loan losses 
 
Loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortised cost.  These loans are 
secured by promissory notes. 

A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or 
more, or, there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due 
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amount of the loan is the present value of the expected cash flows discounted based on the 
interest rate at inception of the loan. 
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amounts recovered are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents  

This includes term deposits of $795,958 (2021 – $782,268) that were placed with financial 
institutions for periods of twelve months. The deposits earn interest at rates of 1.75% per 
annum (2021 – 1.75%) and matured on April 3, 2022. 

    
   Principal          Principal 

   2022 2021 
Financial Institution Date of Maturity  Interest rate        $ $ 
 
Capital Financial 
Services Inc. April 3, 2022 1.75% 795,958 782,268 
    

 Cash     326,867 295,423 
 
   1,122,825 1,077,691 
 

4. Loans receivable 

Loans receivable comprise of amounts outstanding by clients under the Disaster Relief 
Revolving Fund division (“DRRF”) and the newly developed Food Security Fund division 
(“FSF”).  
 
The FSF encompasses financial support to farmers, in collaboration with the Barbados 
Agricultural Development and Management Corporation (“BADMC”) to facilitate the escalation 
of planting programmes, as Government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Loans specifically under the FSF attract interest rates of 2% per annum and are repayable 
over periods ranging from 12 to 36 months.  
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4. Loans receivable…continued 
 
Total loans receivable is comprised as follows: 
  

  Interest rate Outstanding balances 
   2022 2021 
   $ $ 
 
Loans receivable – FSF   2% 1,098,866 845,687 
 
Less: provisions – FSF    (943,801) - 
 
Loans receivable – DRRF   3% 356,010 320,584 
    

 Less: provision for loan losses – DRRF     (356,010) (320,584) 
 

Loans receivable, net                                                                     155,065 845,687  

Provision is comprised as follows: 
  

   Outstanding balances 
   2022 2021 
   $ $ 
 
Provision for Loan Losses – DRRF                             
Balance at April 1 320,882  320,584 
Increase in provision             978,929  298  
 
Balance at March 31, 2022    1,299,811 320,882 
 
The loan receivable for the Food Security Fund is comprised as follows: 
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
Loan receivable brought forward  845,687 
Funds disbursed to FSF clients by BADMC  314,982  811,641 
Interest capitalized (Neville Thomas)  186 
Legal fees paid by DRRF  1,827   49,437 
    
  1,162,683 861,078 
Less: payments (principal) received for the year           60,158 6,230 
Less: payments (principal) in transit at year-end       3,659           9,161  
  
Loans receivable                                                                        1,098,866      845,687  
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5. Other receivable 

Other receivable comprise of disbursements unutilised by BADMC for the Food Security Fund.  
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
Balance brought forward  366,531 - 
Funds disbursed to BADMC for the year    - 1,168,063 
Less: Funds in transit March 2021 paid by BADMC             10,109 - 
Less: funds disbursed to FSF clients by BADMC            316,809 811,641 
     
  39,613   356,422 
BADMC payment (principal and interest) in transit at year-end       4,730  10,109 
 
Undisbursed funds at year end     44,343  366,531 
 

6. Commitments 
  

At the year end, the Fund had $67,362 (2021 – $8,169) commitments outstanding as follows: 
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
David Bostic  32,228 - 
Dujon Edwards  797 797  
Jeeverson Watson  22,228 - 
Kelvin Phillips  - 5,991  
Patrick Greaves  10,728 - 
Trevor Mayers           1,381 1,381 
  
     67,362  8,169 
 

7. COVID-19 
 
During the year 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. As the pandemic continues to evolve, 
governments are implementing additional measures to address the resulting public issues and 
the economic impact. The continued extent of the impact will depend on, but not limited to, 
(i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects 
on the markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain 
and cannot be predicted.  
 
Management is not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial statements of the 
Fund as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak. The Fund continues to monitor the COVID-19 
pandemic situation and will take action as necessary in response to the economic disruption. 
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4. Loans receivable…continued 
 
Total loans receivable is comprised as follows: 
  

  Interest rate Outstanding balances 
   2022 2021 
   $ $ 
 
Loans receivable – FSF   2% 1,098,866 845,687 
 
Less: provisions – FSF    (943,801) - 
 
Loans receivable – DRRF   3% 356,010 320,584 
    

 Less: provision for loan losses – DRRF     (356,010) (320,584) 
 

Loans receivable, net                                                                     155,065 845,687  

Provision is comprised as follows: 
  

   Outstanding balances 
   2022 2021 
   $ $ 
 
Provision for Loan Losses – DRRF                             
Balance at April 1 320,882  320,584 
Increase in provision             978,929  298  
 
Balance at March 31, 2022    1,299,811 320,882 
 
The loan receivable for the Food Security Fund is comprised as follows: 
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
Loan receivable brought forward  845,687 
Funds disbursed to FSF clients by BADMC  314,982  811,641 
Interest capitalized (Neville Thomas)  186 
Legal fees paid by DRRF  1,827   49,437 
    
  1,162,683 861,078 
Less: payments (principal) received for the year           60,158 6,230 
Less: payments (principal) in transit at year-end       3,659           9,161  
  
Loans receivable                                                                        1,098,866      845,687  
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5. Other receivable 

Other receivable comprise of disbursements unutilised by BADMC for the Food Security Fund.  
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
Balance brought forward  366,531 - 
Funds disbursed to BADMC for the year    - 1,168,063 
Less: Funds in transit March 2021 paid by BADMC             10,109 - 
Less: funds disbursed to FSF clients by BADMC            316,809 811,641 
     
  39,613   356,422 
BADMC payment (principal and interest) in transit at year-end       4,730  10,109 
 
Undisbursed funds at year end     44,343  366,531 
 

6. Commitments 
  

At the year end, the Fund had $67,362 (2021 – $8,169) commitments outstanding as follows: 
 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
 
David Bostic  32,228 - 
Dujon Edwards  797 797  
Jeeverson Watson  22,228 - 
Kelvin Phillips  - 5,991  
Patrick Greaves  10,728 - 
Trevor Mayers           1,381 1,381 
  
     67,362  8,169 
 

7. COVID-19 
 
During the year 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. As the pandemic continues to evolve, 
governments are implementing additional measures to address the resulting public issues and 
the economic impact. The continued extent of the impact will depend on, but not limited to, 
(i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects 
on the markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain 
and cannot be predicted.  
 
Management is not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial statements of the 
Fund as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak. The Fund continues to monitor the COVID-19 
pandemic situation and will take action as necessary in response to the economic disruption. 
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Ernst & Young Ltd is a registered trademark of Ernst & Young Professional Services Ltd

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE TRUSTEES OF ENERGY SMART FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Energy Smart Fund (‘the Fund”) which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of comprehensive (loss)
income, statement of changes in general fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Energy Smart Fund as at 31 March 2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-
sized entities (“IFRS for SMEs”).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized entities (“IFRS
for SMEs”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.

Ernst & Young Ltd
P.O. Box 261
Bridgetown, BB11000
Barbados, W.l.

Street Address
One Welches
Welches
St. Thomas, BB22025
Barbados, W.I.

 Tel:  246 430 3900
Fax: 246 426 9551
        246 430 3879

246 430 1352
www.ey.com
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Ernst & Young Ltd is a registered trademark of Ernst & Young Professional Services Ltd

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE TRUSTEES OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the to cease to continue as a going
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.



ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED | Annual Report 2022 73
3

Ernst & Young Ltd is a registered trademark of Ernst & Young Professional Services Ltd

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE TRUSTEES OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the to cease to continue as a going
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
We communicate with the Board of Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Fund’s trustees, in accordance with Trustees Act Chapter 250 of the Laws
of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Fund’s trustees those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Fund’s
trustees, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Barbados
5 September 2022
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2022
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Note 2022
$

2021
$

Revenue

Interest income 508,536 634,230
Less: management fees 4 (284,809) (374,871)

Net interest income      223,727       259,359

Total revenue 223,727 259,359

Expenses
Bank charges 222 220
Professional fees 29,835 29,087

Total expenses 30,057 29,307

Total comprehensive income for the year 193,670 230,052

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2022
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Contribution
$

Accumulated
Surplus

$
Total

$

Balance at March 31, 2020 17,811,043 683,763 18,494,806

Total comprehensive income for the year - 230,052 230,052

Balance at March 31, 2021 17,811,043 913,815 18,724,858

Total comprehensive income for the year - 193,670 193,670

Balance at March 31, 2022 17,811,043 1,107,485 18,918,528

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2022
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Contribution
$

Accumulated
Surplus

$
Total

$

Balance at March 31, 2020 17,811,043 683,763 18,494,806

Total comprehensive income for the year - 230,052 230,052

Balance at March 31, 2021 17,811,043 913,815 18,724,858

Total comprehensive income for the year - 193,670 193,670

Balance at March 31, 2022 17,811,043 1,107,485 18,918,528

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2022
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2022
$

2021
$

Operating Activities
Net income 193,670 230,052

Provision for loan losses - -

Operating profit before working capital changes 193,670 230,052

Increase / (decrease) increase in accounts payable 5,100 (10,611)
Increase in loans receivable (1,175,326) (3,785,626)
Decrease / (increase) in interest receivable 95,613 (196,197)
(Decrease) / increase in due to related party (99,193) 144,667

Net cash used in operating activities (980,136) (3,617,715)

Cash flows from investing activities
(Purchase) / sale of investments (8,947) 5,794,585

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (8,947) 5,794,585

(Decrease) / increase in cash (989,083) 2,176,870

Cash – beginning of year 3,389,558 1,212,688

Cash – end of year 2,400,475 3,389,558

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

The Energy Smart Fund (“ESF” or “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on November 29, 2012. The
Government of Barbados pledged a cumulative capital injection of BDS$ 20 million to establish this multi-
tiered facility. These contributions will be used to provide financing to assist with the execution of viable
energy efficiency (EE) and renewable energy (RE) projects amongst Barbadian businesses and
households. The sum of BDS $20.5 million (2020 – $20.5 million) has been received to date.

The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and it is managed by Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (“Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is “Westgate”, Monteith
Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St. Michael.

The financial statements were authorised for issuance by the Trustee on 28 July 2022.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The financial statements were previously prepared
using full International Financial Reporting Standards, and the IFRS for SMEs was adopted on April 1,
2018. There were no significant differences in accounting policies on adoption of the IFRS for SMEs, no
changes to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, and consequently no adjustments to opening
retained earnings at April 1, 2018.

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and term deposits with the original maturity dates of
90 days or less.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

The Energy Smart Fund (“ESF” or “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on November 29, 2012. The
Government of Barbados pledged a cumulative capital injection of BDS$ 20 million to establish this multi-
tiered facility. These contributions will be used to provide financing to assist with the execution of viable
energy efficiency (EE) and renewable energy (RE) projects amongst Barbadian businesses and
households. The sum of BDS $20.5 million (2020 – $20.5 million) has been received to date.

The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and it is managed by Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (“Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is “Westgate”, Monteith
Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St. Michael.

The financial statements were authorised for issuance by the Trustee on 28 July 2022.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The financial statements were previously prepared
using full International Financial Reporting Standards, and the IFRS for SMEs was adopted on April 1,
2018. There were no significant differences in accounting policies on adoption of the IFRS for SMEs, no
changes to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, and consequently no adjustments to opening
retained earnings at April 1, 2018.

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and term deposits with the original maturity dates of
90 days or less.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)

(e) Loans receivable

Loans are measured at amortised cost less any impairment losses.

(f) Revenue recognition

Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits represents interest earned on contractual agreements with financial
institutions at agreed rates of interest.

Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.

All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements. Provisions
for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to support the fact that
the loan is impaired.

(g) Contributions

Contributions from the Government of Barbados are recorded in the Statement of Changes in Fund.
Technical Assistance grant disbursements are recognised as a decrease in the Fund balance.

(h) Investments

Investments comprising term deposits are carried at cost.

(i) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Income or Loss.
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ENERGY SMART FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (cont’d)

(j) Deferred income

This represents deposits received from clients prior to disbursement of grant funding. They are treated
as such until the client is approved for funding under the Energy Efficiency (EE) Retrofit and Renewable
Energy (RE) Finance Facility.

(k) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are
also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based
on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

3. Loans receivable

The maximum loan size allowed is $1,500,000 with a loan interest rate of 3.75% per annum being applied
to the reducing balance of the loan. The resources of this facility are not to be used to refinance existing
debt. All loans shall be repaid within ten (10) years or less.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s) where the
market realisation value of the underlying security is adequate to liquidate all prior charges and the Fund’s
exposure.

The maturity structure of loans receivable is:

2022
$

2021
$

Up to 1 year 114,164 245,265
One to five years 9,885,228 3,867,370
Over 5 years 6,191,164 10,902,595

Total loans receivable 16,190,556 15,015,230

Less loan loss provision:
Balance at start of year (285,350) (285,350)
Impairment (loss)

- -

Balance at end of year (285,350) (285,350)

Total loans receivable, net 15,905,206 14,729,880
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ENERGY SMART FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (cont’d)

(j) Deferred income

This represents deposits received from clients prior to disbursement of grant funding. They are treated
as such until the client is approved for funding under the Energy Efficiency (EE) Retrofit and Renewable
Energy (RE) Finance Facility.

(k) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are
also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based
on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

3. Loans receivable

The maximum loan size allowed is $1,500,000 with a loan interest rate of 3.75% per annum being applied
to the reducing balance of the loan. The resources of this facility are not to be used to refinance existing
debt. All loans shall be repaid within ten (10) years or less.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s) where the
market realisation value of the underlying security is adequate to liquidate all prior charges and the Fund’s
exposure.

The maturity structure of loans receivable is:

2022
$

2021
$

Up to 1 year 114,164 245,265
One to five years 9,885,228 3,867,370
Over 5 years 6,191,164 10,902,595

Total loans receivable 16,190,556 15,015,230

Less loan loss provision:
Balance at start of year (285,350) (285,350)
Impairment (loss)

- -

Balance at end of year (285,350) (285,350)

Total loans receivable, net 15,905,206 14,729,880
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

4. Due to related party

The amount due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the
financial year in accordance with the provisions of agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
(EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund, using contractual rates.

These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
are unsecured, interest fee and have no fixed terms of repayment.

5. Grants/Rebates

The Trustees administer the following grants/rebates under the Fund. These are illustrated as follows:

a) Technical Assistance Grants
b) Pilot Consumer Finance Facility
c) Energy Efficiency Lighting Distribution Facility
d) Air Conditioner Rebate Trade-In Facility

Technical Assistance Grants (T/A)
This comprises amounts disbursed to eligible businesses to support the preparation of Energy Efficiency
(EE) audits and Renewable Energy (RE) studies. These audits and studies will test the economic,
environmental, technical and financial viability of each project prior to final implementation. The maximum
allowed is $40,000.

Pilot Consumer Finance Facility (PCF)
The PCF Facility provides rebates on either interest rates or retail price to one or more selected Barbadian
retailers that sell (or intend to sell) EE and RE equipment at a retail level and have some experience in
hire-purchase. The maximum size of a grant to any selected retailer is $500,000.

Energy Efficiency Lighting Distribution Facility
This facility provides grant funding for selected retailers to purchase EE Lights, and distribute them to their
customers based on a voucher system. The maximum size of a grant to any selected retailer is $1,000,000.

Air Conditioner (A/C) Rebate Trade-In Facility
This facility provides grant funding for giving 50 percent rebates to businesses and households on new
energy efficient and ozone depleting substance (ODS)-free Air Conditioners (provided an old unit is
disposed for each new unit supported), working through selected retailers. The maximum size of a grant
to any selected retailer is $1.5 million.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

6. Commitments

Outstanding commitments totalling $901,377 (March 31, 2021 - $3,402,620) were reported at the end of
the year.

7. Corporation tax

The Fund is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated pool of funds and therefore under the Income
Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a non-incorporated entity. The Income Tax Act Cap 73 was
amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the
development of sectors of the economy.

8. COVID-19

The uncertainties of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and the economic recovery from the pandemic
will continue to be major risk factors and focus for the Company in the short and medium terms. Although
the Company has a very strong financial position and has maintained good performance over the period
of restriction, any further Government actions may result in the need for cost control measures.

The Directors continue to monitor developments relating to the coronavirus and coordinating its operational
response based on existing business continuity plans and guidance from global health organizations,
relevant governments departments and general pandemic response best practices.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

TO THE TRUSTEES OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 

(‘the Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of 

comprehensive loss, statement of changes in general fund and statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.   

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Industrial Investment and Employment Fund as at 31 March 2022 and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard 

for Small and Medium-sized entities (“IFRS for SMEs”). 

 
Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 

the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the 

International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized entities (“IFRS 

for SMEs”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.  

 

  

Ernst & Young Ltd 
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Bridgetown, BB11000 
Barbados, W.l. 
 
Street Address 
One Welches 
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St. Thomas, BB22025 
Barbados, W.I. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
TO THE TRUSTEES OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the to cease to continue as a going 

concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 

We communicate with the Board of Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.  

 

Other Matter 

This report is made solely to the Fund’s trustees, in accordance with Trustees Act Chapter 250 of the Laws 

of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Fund’s trustees those matters 

we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Fund’s 

trustees, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed. 

 

 

 

Barbados 

5 September 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Loss 

For the year ended March 31, 2022 

(Expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

6 

  

  

Notes 

2022 

$ 

2021 

$ 

    

Revenue    

Interest income  314,014 194,055 

    

Expenses    

Management fees to related parties 7 302,706 304,271 

Provision for loan losses 6 45,219 5,128 

Professional fees  17,529 17,000 

Bank charges   192 188 

    

  365,646 326,587 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (51,632) (132,532) 

 

  

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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 Capital 

Contribution 

$ 

Accumulated 

Deficit 

$ 

Total 

$ 

    

Balances, March 31, 2020 15,000,000 (7,401,052) 7,598,948 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (132,532) (132,532) 

    

Balances March 31, 2021 15,000,000 (7,533,584) 7,466,416 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (51,632) (51,632) 

    

Balances March 31, 2022 15,000,000 (7,585,216) 7,414,784 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended March 31, 2022 

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars) 

 

8 

 

  

 

2022 

$ 

2021 

$ 

    

Cash flows from Operating Activities    

Total Comprehensive Loss for the year  (51,632) (132,532) 

Adjustments for:    

Provision for loan losses  45,219 5,128 

    

Operating loss before changes in operating assets and 

liabilities 

 

(6,413) (127,404) 

    

Increase in loans receivable  (142,809) (508,972) 

(Increase) decrease in interest receivable  (9,875) 30,792 

(Decrease) increase in due to related party  (50,716) 182 

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable  2,664 (9,462) 

    

Net cash used in operating activities  (207,149) (614,864) 

    

Cash flows from Investing Activities    

(Purchase) sale of short-term investments  (9,964) 549,753 

    

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities  (9,964) 549,753 

    

Decrease in cash   (217,113) (65,110) 

Cash – beginning of year  530,947 596,057 

    

Cash – end of year  313,834 530,947 

 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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1. Incorporation and Principal Activities 

 

The Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (“IIEF” or the “Fund”) began operations in Barbados 

on August 9, 2002 and was funded with an initial transfer from the Government of Barbados of 

$15 million. These contributions are used to provide financing to local manufacturers to enhance and 

expand the productive capacity of the manufacturing sector in order to improve the level of 

competitiveness and financial viability. A further contribution of $10 million was budgeted, however, this 

has not been realised as a result of the poor performance of the Fund. 

 

The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and is managed by Enterprise 

Growth Fund Limited (the “Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is Enterprise 

Growth Fund Limited, “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens Barbarees Hill, St. Michael. The Investment 

Committee and the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval and ratification 

of loans issued by the Fund. 

 

The financial statements were authorised for issuance by the Trustees on 28 July 2022. 

 

2. Basis of Preparation 

 

a) Statement of compliance 

 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   

 

b) Basis of measurement 

 

The financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis.  

 

c) Functional and presentation currency 

 

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency. 

These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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2. Basis of Preparation (cont’d) 

 

d)  Use of estimates and judgements 

 

The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates and judgments are 

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These accounting estimates  

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 

the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

i) Provision for loan losses 

 

The provision for loan losses is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis. The Fund uses its 

judgment to select assumptions that reflect the expected timing and amount of future payments by 

customers and where applicable the expected net proceeds on realization of security.  

 

3. Significant Accounting Policies 

 

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund have been applied consistently to all periods 

presented in these financial statements. 

 

a) Revenue recognition  

 

Interest on deposits 

Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on 

contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest. 

 

Income from loans 

Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 

of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.  

 

All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements. 

Provisions for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to 

support the fact that the loan is impaired.    

 

b) Investments 

 

Investments comprising commercial deposits and Government of Barbados issued Series “B” bonds, 

with original maturity dates of 90 days or more, are carried at amortized cost.  
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a) Revenue recognition  

 

Interest on deposits 

Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on 

contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest. 

 

Income from loans 

Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 

of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.  

 

All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements. 

Provisions for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to 

support the fact that the loan is impaired.    

 

b) Investments 

 

Investments comprising commercial deposits and Government of Barbados issued Series “B” bonds, 

with original maturity dates of 90 days or more, are carried at amortized cost.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

c) Provision for loan losses 

 

Specific provisions are made on individual loans, where management is of the opinion that collection 

is doubtful.  A loan is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that the Fund will 

not be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan.  The amount of 

the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the 

present value of expected cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 

discounted based on the interest rate at inception of the loan.  

 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries 

are credited to the provision for loan losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Profit or Loss. 

 

 d) Impairment 

 

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 

estimated. 

 

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Profit or Loss. 

 

 e)  Related parties 

 

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 

party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 

decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common 

significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between 

related parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties. 

 

 f)  Loan receivables 

 

This amount comprises low-interest loans issued at rates which are below the prevailing market 

rates of interest. These loans are measured at amortised cost less any impairment losses. 

 

4. Cash  

 

Cash comprises cash at bank: 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

   

Cash 313,834 530,947 

 

Cash consists of amounts held in a current account which does not earn interest. 
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5. Investments 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

   
Commercial deposits 579,356 569,392 

Government-issued Series “B” Bonds 753,089 753,089 

 

Total Investments 1,332,445 1,322,481 

 

Included in investments is an amount of $579,356 (March 31, 2021: $569,392) representing commercial 

deposits with maturity periods greater than 90 days.  At the reporting date the effective interest rate was 

1.75% per annum (March 31, 2021: 1.75% per annum). 

 

The bonds are divided into strips which have terms ranging from five years to fifteen years, and bear 

interest at 1% per annum for the first three years, 2.5% in year 4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity. 

 

6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable – Net 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

   
Loans 7,437,573 7,294,764 

Bonds 200,000 200,000 

Revolving lines of credit 1,249,869 1,249,869 

   

 8,887,442 8,744,633 

Less provision:   

Balance, beginning of year 3,053,813 3,048,685 

Increase in provision for loan losses 45,219 5,128 

   

Balance at end of year 3,099,032 3,053,813 

   

Balance, end of year 5,788,410 5,690,820 

 

At March 31, 2022 the maturity profile of loans is as follows: 

 
 Years to maturity  

 Up to  
1 year 

One to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

      

Business sector 2,879,383 103,564 5,904,495 8,887,442 8,744,633 

Less allowance for loan losses    (3,099,032) (3,053,813) 

      

    5,788,410 5,690,820 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
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6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable – Net (cont’d) 

 

The interest rate applicable to the loans and lines of credit receivable ranged from 5.5% - 6.0% at the end 

of 2022 (March 31, 2021: 5.5% - 6.0%). The annual interest rate applicable to all bonds was 10% for 2022 

(March 31, 2021: 10%). 

 

The maximum loan allowed is the greater of $2,000,000 and 8% of the total capitalisation balance of the 

Fund. Loans with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be granted a grace period limited to one 

(1) year (the period during which only interest payments are due and payable). For loans with repayment 

periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the grace period will be two (2) 

years.  Loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years, the grace period will be for three (3) 

years.  The grace period is limited to the length of the contract for construction or installation.  Loans 

receivable include revolving lines of credit which are due on demand. 

 

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgages on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s). 

 

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries 

are credited to the provision for impairment losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Profit or Loss.  As 

at the reporting date, interest not recognised in respect of delinquent loans amounted to $2,401,869 (March 

31, 2021: $2,197,058). 

 

7. Due to Related Party 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

   

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited 25,205 75,921 

 

Due to related party consists mainly of management fees payable at the end of the financial year in 

accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) 

and the Trustees of the Fund using contractual rates.  

 

These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 

transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and have no 

fixed terms of repayment. 

 

Charges of $302,706 (2021 - $304,271) were incurred during the year in respect of management fees 

payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.  

 

 

8. Commitments 

 

At the reporting date, loans approved which have not been disbursed totalled $311,135 (March 31, 2021:  

$231,418). 
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9. Corporation Tax 

 

Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt from 

payment of tax in accordance with Income Tax Act Cap 73 which exempts entities whose funds have been 

provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the economy.  

 

10. COVID-19  

 

The uncertainties of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and the economic recovery from the pandemic 

will continue to be major risk factors and focus for the Company in the short and medium terms. Although 

the Company has a very strong financial position and has maintained good performance over the period 

of restriction, any further Government actions may result in the need for cost control measures.  

 

The Directors continue to monitor developments relating to the coronavirus and coordinating its 

operational response based on existing business continuity plans and guidance from global health 

organizations, relevant governments departments and general pandemic response best practices. 
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6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable – Net (cont’d) 
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Skeete, Best & Co. Chartered Accountants 
Tudor Bridge, St. Michael 

Barbados, W.I. 
Tel. (246) 537-6626        Fax. (246) 537-5348 

        Email: damienskeete@skeetebest.com Website: www.skeetebest.com  
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
To the Trustees of  
The Innovation Fund  
 
Our opinion  
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Innovation Fund (“the Fund”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2022, and the statements of 
comprehensive loss, changes in fund and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Fund as of March 31, 2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and 
Medium-sized entities (IFRS for SMEs). 
 
Basis for Opinion   
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Responsibilit ies of Management and Those Charged w ith Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. 
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Accumulated
Contribution Deficit Total

$ $ $

Balance at March 31, 2020 5,515,103        (4,194,881)        1,320,222    

Net loss for the year -                  (108,867)           (108,867)      

Balance at March 31, 2021 5,515,103        (4,303,748)        1,211,355    

Net loss for the year -                  (106,291)           (106,291)      

Balance at March 31, 2022 5,515,103        (4,410,039)        1,105,064    

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Revenue
Interest income 18,168           18,488             

Expenses
Bank charges 180                 180                 
Management fees (Note 5) 116,529         121,015           
Professional fees 7,750             6,160              

124,459         127,355           

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (106,291)       (108,867)          

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

7

The Innovation Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year (106,291)       (108,867)          

Operating loss before working capital adjustments: (106,291)       (108,867)          
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable (272)               4,073              
Decrease in accounts payable and accruals (7)                    (1,595)             
Decrease in due to related party (20,957)          (9,682)             

Net cash used in operating activities (127,527)       (116,071)          

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments (17,895)          (22,562)           

Net decrease in cash (145,422)       (138,633)          

Cash - beginning of period 209,698         348,331           

Cash - end of period (Note 3) 64,276           209,698           

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. Establishment and purpose  
 

The Innovation Fund (“the Fund”) was established for the purpose of providing funding and 
technical assistance to small and emerging innovative enterprises to properly develop a concept 
or product and to develop the business to the stage where it can obtain the additional financing 
needed to commercialize the concept or product fully.  It was funded by Bds$5,000,000 
transferred by the Crown to Trustees under a Deed of Trust, dated October 2002. The Fund 
commenced operations on January 15, 2003. 
 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Standard for 
Small and Medium-sized Entities (“IFRS for SMEs”) promulgated by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared under the historical cost convention.  
 
Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue recognition 

Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive loss on the accrual basis for 
all interest bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes 
interest earned on time deposits. 

Taxation 
 
The Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap.73. 

 
Term deposits with bank 
 
These are call and fixed deposits with original maturity dates of 90 days or less. 

 
Equity investments 
 
Equity investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value consideration given, and 
include acquisition charges associated with the investments. These are privately held unquoted 
equity investments.  They are carried at cost based on available information and do not 
necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be realised, since such amounts depend 
on future circumstances.  Because of the inherent uncertainties of valuation, the assigned 
values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used, had more current 
information been available, and the difference could be material. 
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2. Significant accounting policies …continued 
 

Equity investments...continued  
 
Management performs a review of its investment portfolio annually to determine whether there 
are any indicators of impairment. Impairment review focuses on issues, financial condition and 
their future prospects. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a 
deduction of the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss as “provision for impairment of investments”. 
 

3. Cash 
 

   2022  2021 
                $ $ 
 
Cash at bank – RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Limited      64,276     209,698 
 

4. Investments 

The Fund has invested in redeemable, Class A preferred shares in the following companies and 
these have been fully provided for in the financials: 

 
At year end, the Fund has approved investments totalling $3,819,632. Approximately 
$2,243,211 of this total has been disbursed to date. The investment balances are listed as 
follows: 
 
 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
 
Abus Technology Inc. 200,000 200,000 
Advanced Energy Systems  82,449 82,449 
Ajeland Investments Inc. 249,600 249,600 
Birds Eye Music Inc. 250,000 250,000 
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd.     241,720          241,720 
Fifth Element Designs Inc.                                                               20,000 20,000 
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc. 2,782                2,782 
Country Style Woodwork Inc.  250,000        250,000 
Country Style Woodwork Inc.  56,017        56,017 
Gold Coast Records Inc.  250,000      250,000 
Hit For Six Inc.  250,000 250,000 
Hit Island Inc.  91,628 91,628 
Melange Productions Inc. 210,000 210,000 
Smart Tie Inc.  31,000 31,000 
 
  2,185,196 2,185,196 
 
CAPITA commercial deposit          1,040,457  1,022,562   
 
       3,225,653 3,207,758 
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statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue recognition 

Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive loss on the accrual basis for 
all interest bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes 
interest earned on time deposits. 

Taxation 
 
The Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap.73. 

 
Term deposits with bank 
 
These are call and fixed deposits with original maturity dates of 90 days or less. 

 
Equity investments 
 
Equity investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value consideration given, and 
include acquisition charges associated with the investments. These are privately held unquoted 
equity investments.  They are carried at cost based on available information and do not 
necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be realised, since such amounts depend 
on future circumstances.  Because of the inherent uncertainties of valuation, the assigned 
values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used, had more current 
information been available, and the difference could be material. 
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2. Significant accounting policies …continued 
 

Equity investments...continued  
 
Management performs a review of its investment portfolio annually to determine whether there 
are any indicators of impairment. Impairment review focuses on issues, financial condition and 
their future prospects. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a 
deduction of the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss as “provision for impairment of investments”. 
 

3. Cash 
 

   2022  2021 
                $ $ 
 
Cash at bank – RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Limited      64,276     209,698 
 

4. Investments 

The Fund has invested in redeemable, Class A preferred shares in the following companies and 
these have been fully provided for in the financials: 

 
At year end, the Fund has approved investments totalling $3,819,632. Approximately 
$2,243,211 of this total has been disbursed to date. The investment balances are listed as 
follows: 
 
 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
 
Abus Technology Inc. 200,000 200,000 
Advanced Energy Systems  82,449 82,449 
Ajeland Investments Inc. 249,600 249,600 
Birds Eye Music Inc. 250,000 250,000 
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd.     241,720          241,720 
Fifth Element Designs Inc.                                                               20,000 20,000 
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc. 2,782                2,782 
Country Style Woodwork Inc.  250,000        250,000 
Country Style Woodwork Inc.  56,017        56,017 
Gold Coast Records Inc.  250,000      250,000 
Hit For Six Inc.  250,000 250,000 
Hit Island Inc.  91,628 91,628 
Melange Productions Inc. 210,000 210,000 
Smart Tie Inc.  31,000 31,000 
 
  2,185,196 2,185,196 
 
CAPITA commercial deposit          1,040,457  1,022,562   
 
       3,225,653 3,207,758 
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4. Investments … continued  
 
Less: provision for impairment of investments: 
 
 2022 2021 
 $ $ 
 
Abus Technology Inc. (200,000) (200,000) 
Advanced Energy Systems  (82,449) (82,449) 
Ajeland Investments Inc. (249,600) (249,600) 
Birds Eye Music Inc.  (250,000) (250,000) 
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd.  (241,720) (241,720) 
Fifth Element Designs  (20,000) (20,000)  
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc.  (2,782) (2,782) 
Country Style Woodwork Inc  (306,017) (306,017) 
Gold Coast Records Inc  (250,000) (250,000) 
Hit For Six Inc.      (250,000) (250,000) 
Hit Island Inc. (91,628) (91,628)   
Melange Productions Inc.      (210,000) (210,000)              
Smart Tie Inc  (31,000) (31,000) 
 
  (2,185,196) (2,185,196) 

 
     1,040,457       1,022,562 
 
5. Due to related party 

 
At March 31, 2022, there was an amount of $7,759 (2021 – $28,716) due to the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited. This balance is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand. 
 
Related party transactions 
 
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the average gross 
assets of the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.75% per quarter.  
 
Charges of $116,529 (2021 - $121,015) were incurred during the year in respect of 
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.   

 
6. Special grants 
 

The Fund administers and finances The National Innovation Competition to develop creative 
thinking to produce viable innovative projects that have the best chance of realizing commercial 
success. From the 2008 income year, the Board of Trustees resolved to treat the expenses for 
this competition as grants. Such grants when disbursed are recognised in the accounts as a 
reduction in the equity of the Fund.  
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7. Financial risk management 
 
 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would be agreed upon 
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best 
evidenced by a quoted market value, if one exists. The methods and assumptions used to 
estimate fair value of each class of financial instruments are as follows: 
 

a) Cash, interest receivable, accounts payable and due to related party 
 

Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities, their carrying 
values approximate their fair values. 

 
b) Equity Investments 

 
These are carried at cost since their fair values cannot be reasonably determined. 

 
 Interest rate risk 
 

The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities and so this risk is not considered to be 
significant. 
 
Credit risk 
 
The amount of the Fund’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its 
financial assets.  These include cash, term deposits and interest receivable from these deposits, 
all of which are placed with a reputable bank and financial institution.  
 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its 
financial liabilities.   
 
The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. 
 
Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, 
a related party. 
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4. Investments … continued  
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assets of the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.75% per quarter.  
 
Charges of $116,529 (2021 - $121,015) were incurred during the year in respect of 
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.   
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thinking to produce viable innovative projects that have the best chance of realizing commercial 
success. From the 2008 income year, the Board of Trustees resolved to treat the expenses for 
this competition as grants. Such grants when disbursed are recognised in the accounts as a 
reduction in the equity of the Fund.  
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all of which are placed with a reputable bank and financial institution.  
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Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its 
financial liabilities.   
 
The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. 
 
Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, 
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8. COVID-19 
 
During the year 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. As the pandemic continues to evolve, 
governments are implementing additional measures to address the resulting public issues and 
the economic impact. The continued extent of the impact will depend on, but not limited to, 
(i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects 
on the markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain 
and cannot be predicted.  
 
Management is not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial statements of the 
Fund as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak. The Fund continues to monitor the COVID-19 
pandemic situation and will take action as necessary in response to the economic disruption. 
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Topaz Consulting Inc, Chartered Accountant, Medford Complex, Whitehall, St Michael, Barbados, West Indies 

Tel: (246) 425-4322            Email: office@topaz-bb.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Investment Committee of Small Hotels Investment Fund 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Small Hotels Investment Fund, which comprise the Statement of 
Financial Position as at March 31, 2022, and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Fund and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Fund as at March 31, 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report.  We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the
Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

Chartered Accountants 
July 1, 2022 
Bridgetown, Barbados 
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(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

NOTES     2022     2021
      $       $

INCOME
Interest on deposits 88,515           87,201           
Interest on loans 735,226         659,415         

823,741         746,616         

EXPENSES
Management fees (6) 1,117,158 1,127,520      
Provision for loan losses (2e) 934,981         - 
Professional fees 24,079           9,761             
Bank charges 201 189 

2,076,419      1,137,470      

NET (LOSS)  FOR THE YEAR (1,252,678)     (390,854)        

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022
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(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

NOTES Capital Retained Total
Contribution Earnings

$ $  $

Balances as at March 31, 2020 43,908,911     600,890         44,509,801    

Net Loss for the year - (390,854) (390,854)        

Balances as at March 31, 2021 43,908,911     210,036         44,118,947    

Net Loss for the year - (1,252,678) (1,252,678)     

Balances as at March 31, 2022 43,908,911     (1,042,642)     42,866,269    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND
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(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

NOTES Capital Retained Total
Contribution Earnings
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND
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(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

    2022     2021
      $       $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net (loss) for the year (1,252,678)     (390,854)        

Adjustments for:
Interest income (823,741)        (746,616)        
Provision for loan loss 934,981         - 

Deficit before Working Capital Changes (1,141,438)     (1,137,470)     

Working Capital Changes:
Decrease in loans receivable 834,162         310,498         
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable (188,804)        (11,101)          

Cash (used in)Operations (496,080)        (838,073)        

Net cash (used in) Operating Activities (496,080)        (838,073)        

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Purchase) of short term investments (88,245)          (96,869)          
Interest received 827,569         789,601         

Net cash provided by Investing Activities 739,324         692,732         

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Increase in capital contributions - - 

Net cash provided by Financing Activities - - 

(Decrease) increase in cash 243,244         (145,341)        

Cash - beginning of year 1,222,764      1,368,105      
Cash - end of year 1,466,008      1,222,764      

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash at bank 1,466,008      1,222,764      
1,466,008      1,222,764      

SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars) 

NOTE: 1 STRUCTURE & PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

The Small Hotels Investment Fund (SHIF) is a Fund which was established by the Government of Barbados and began 
operations on May 27, 1999 in Barbados. SHIF is not a separate legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of 
funds. 

The objective of the Fund is to assist small hotels with marketing, management, procurement of joint services and 
refurbishment, in order to improve their revenue-earning capacity and operational efficiency. 

The beneficiaries of SHIF are restricted to the Small Hotels of Barbados Inc. (SHBI) and also its members whose 
properties comply with the minimum standards established by the European Travel Trade. 

SHIF seeks to finance projects that clearly demonstrate that they will enhance the financial viability and operational 
performance of the small hotels sector.  

The Fund consists of a combination of a loan and capital contributions received from Government. 

SHIF is overseen by an Investment Committee which comprises five members. Two members represent the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited, two members represent SHBI and one member represents the Ministry of Tourism and 
International Transport. The operations of the Fund are managed by Enterprise Growth Fund Limited. 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the members on July 1, 2022. 

NOTE: 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Barbados dollars on the historic cost basis in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for Small and Medium-Sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). promulgated by the
International Financial Reporting Standards Board (IASB).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires the use of critical accounting 
estimated. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting 
policies. 

(b) New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
There are a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the
year ended March 31, 2022 and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial statements.

(c) Cash and short-term investments
Cash and short-term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with original maturity
dates of 90 days or less.

(d) Loans receivable
Interest income from loans is recognized as it accrues. Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is
reasonable doubt regarding the collectability of principal and interest or when principal and/or interest payments are
ninety days or more in arrears. Upon classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid
interest thereon is reversed against the current period. Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid
and total accrued interest does not exceed one hundred and eighty (180) days. In subsequent periods, interest received
on non-accrual loans is recorded as income only if management has determined that the loans do not require specific
provisions, otherwise all amounts are credited to principal.
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars) 
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International Transport. The operations of the Fund are managed by Enterprise Growth Fund Limited. 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the members on July 1, 2022. 

NOTE: 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Barbados dollars on the historic cost basis in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for Small and Medium-Sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). promulgated by the
International Financial Reporting Standards Board (IASB).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires the use of critical accounting 
estimated. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting 
policies. 

(b) New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
There are a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the
year ended March 31, 2022 and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial statements.

(c) Cash and short-term investments
Cash and short-term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with original maturity
dates of 90 days or less.

(d) Loans receivable
Interest income from loans is recognized as it accrues. Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is
reasonable doubt regarding the collectability of principal and interest or when principal and/or interest payments are
ninety days or more in arrears. Upon classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid
interest thereon is reversed against the current period. Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid
and total accrued interest does not exceed one hundred and eighty (180) days. In subsequent periods, interest received
on non-accrual loans is recorded as income only if management has determined that the loans do not require specific
provisions, otherwise all amounts are credited to principal.
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 

 
 

  (Expressed in Barbados Dollars) 
    
NOTE: 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, cont’d 
 
(e)   Provision for loan losses 
Specific provisions are made on an individual basis, where management is of the opinion that collection is doubtful. 
 
(f)   Revenue recognition  
Interest income from investments is accounted for on an accrual basis. 
 
(g)   Impairment 
The carrying amounts of the Fund's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss 
is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in the income statement. 
 
(h)   Taxation 
Small Hotels Investment Fund (SHIF) is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated pool of funds and therefore 
under the Income Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a non-incorporated entity. In previous years the SHIF 
has applied to the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs for waiver of corporation and withholding taxes and in 2006 
the Ministry communicated to the SHIF that the waiver was granted for 2003 to 2007. 
 
The Ministry also informed the SHIF that a decision had been taken to amend the Income Tax Act Cap 73, to exempt 
from tax, funds provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the 
economy.  As a result, no corporation tax has been calculated for the current year. 
 
 
NOTE: 3 CASH AT BANK 
 

2022 2021
      $       $

Cash at bank 1,466,008             1,222,764            

 1,466,008             1,222,764             
 
 
NOTE: 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET 
 
Effective since October 1, 2002 members of the SHBI in good standing and who qualify under the by-laws and 
regulations of the SHBI have been eligible to receive loans. The maximum loan size allowed is the lower of $5,600,000 
and 15% of the initial capitalization of the Fund. The minimum loan size shall be limited to $50,000. Loans shall not be 
used to purchase land, buildings or other real estate except where such real estate is to be used for the member's 
productive purpose.  All loans shall be repaid within a ten (10) year period which includes a five (5) year moratorium on 
interest and principal payments. Security on loans is by way of first or second legal mortgage. 
 
Loans include interest capitalized during the moratorium period. 
 
The loans receivable bear interest at 5% per annum (2021: 5% per annum). Some loans are subject to the moratorium 
of interest and principal payments for a period of five (5) years. 
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 

 
 

  (Expressed in Barbados Dollars) 
    
NOTE: 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET, cont’d 
 
The maturity structure of loans receivable, net, is:

2022 2021
      $       $

Under 1 year 18,182,128           18,182,128           
1 - 5 years 2,894,315             2,774,378             
Over 5 years 19,700,875           20,654,974           

Total loans receivable, gross, carried forward 40,777,318           41,611,480           

Less loan loss provision:
Balance as at April 1, 2021 3,452,482             3,452,482             
Increase in provision 934,981                -                       

Balance as at March 31, 2022 4,387,463             3,452,482             

Total loans receivable, net 36,389,855           38,158,998           

 
The Fund made a provision for loan loss for Tourism Services Inc., Villa Investments Inc. and WSB Ltd. This was based 
on their non-accrual status and their inability to honour their current obligations. 
 
 
NOTE: 5 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 
 
This consists of deposits held with a maturity period exceeding 90 days. 
 
 
NOTE: 6 MANAGEMENT FEES 
 
Management fees are due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited and are based on a contractual percentage of the average 
gross assets of the fund outstanding. Included in Accounts Payable are Management Fees of $280,915 and $92,786 
as at March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2022 respectively. 
 
 
NOTE: 7 COMMITMENTS 
 
At the balance sheet date, there were no outstanding commitments. 
 
 
NOTE: 8 CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
The original contribution by Government to the Fund was $5 million. Of this amount, $1,240,080 was disbursed to SHBI. 
The investment committee of SHIF resolved on November 4, 2002 to treat all advances to the SHBI as of September 
30, 2002 (previously loans) as grants and to cancel all prior related balances and interest accrued.  Accordingly, the 
balance of the capital contribution was reduced to $3,759,920. 
 
Funds were subsequently injected by the Government of Barbados to finance the lending activities of the Small Hotels 
Refurbishment Scheme. 
 
Capital contribution (net of grants disbursed) at March 31, 2022 stands at $43,908,911. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”) which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of comprehensive loss,
statement of changes in general fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Tourism Loan Fund as at 31 March 2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-
sized entities (“IFRS for SMEs”).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized entities (“IFRS
for SMEs”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.

Ernst & Young Ltd
P.O. Box 261
Bridgetown, BB11000
Barbados, W.l.

Street Address
One Welches
Welches
St. Thomas, BB22025
Barbados, W.I.

 Tel:  246 430 3900
Fax: 246 426 9551
        246 430 3879

246 430 1352
www.ey.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

4
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Other Legal Matter
This report is made solely to the Fund’s trustees, in accordance with Trustees Act Chapter 250 of the Laws
of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Fund’s trustees those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Fund’s
trustees, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Barbados
5 September 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)

TO THE TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

6

2022
$

2021
$

Income
Interest on investments 159,276 140,916
Interest on loans 1,988,639 839,041

Total income 2,147,915 979,957

Expenses
Management fees 986,128 979,603
Provision for loan losses 2,479,447 113,454
Professional fees 30,918 24,049
Trustees fees 1,800 1,200
Bank charges 200 192

Total expenses 3,498,493 1,118,498

Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,350,578) (138,541)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Statement of Changes in General Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

7

Capital
Contribution

$

Accumulated
Earnings

$
Total

$

Balances, March 31, 2020 30,000,000 7,029,509 37,029,509
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (138,541) (138,541)

Balances March 31, 2021 30,000,000 6,890,968 36,890,968
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (1,350,578) (1,350,578)

Balances March 31, 2022 30,000,000 5,540,390 35,540,390

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

8

2022
$

2021
$

Operating Activities
Loss for the year (1,350,578) (138,541)

Adjustments for:
Provision for loan losses 2,479,447 113,454

Operating profit (loss) before changes in operating assets and
liabilities 1,128,869 (25,087)
Decrease in loans receivable, net 977,597 234,440
Decrease / (increase) in interest receivable 606,514 (736,524)
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,717 (3,740)
(Decrease) in due to related party (159,317) (2,861)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,557,380 (533,772)

Investing activities
(Purchase) / sale of investments - net (88,580) 420,514

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (88,580) 420,514

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,468,800 (113,258)
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 514,187 627,445

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year 2,982,987 514,187

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

9

1. Background

The Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”) was established pursuant to:

(i) a Trust Deed dated January 26, 2001 between the Central Bank of Barbados and the Trustees
and;

(ii) a Management Agreement dated January 26, 2001 between the Trustees and Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (“the Fund Manager” or “EGFL”).

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, the Central Bank of Barbados agreed to transfer $30 million to
the Trustees for the purpose of establishing the Tourism Loan Fund.

The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and is managed by Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (the “Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited, “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens Barbarees Hill, St. Michael. The Investment
Committee and the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval and
ratification of loans issued by the Fund.

These financial statements were approved by the Trustees of the Fund on 28 July 2022.

2.  Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for
SMEs) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional
currency.  These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

10

2.  Basis of Preparation (cont’d)

d) Use of estimates and judgements

The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period are discussed below.

(i) Provision for loan losses

The provision for loan losses is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis. The Fund
uses its judgment to select assumptions that reflect the expected timing and amount of future
payments by customers and where applicable the expected net proceeds on realization of
security.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these financial statements.

a) Revenue recognition

Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on
contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest.

 Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
liability.

All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements.
Provisions for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence
to support the fact that the loan is impaired.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
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1. Background

The Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”) was established pursuant to:

(i) a Trust Deed dated January 26, 2001 between the Central Bank of Barbados and the Trustees
and;

(ii) a Management Agreement dated January 26, 2001 between the Trustees and Enterprise
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Committee and the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval and
ratification of loans issued by the Fund.

These financial statements were approved by the Trustees of the Fund on 28 July 2022.

2.  Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for
SMEs) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional
currency.  These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

b) Investments

Investments comprising commercial deposits and Government of Barbados issued Series “B”
bonds, with original maturity dates of 90 days or more, are carried at amortized cost.

c) Provision for loan losses

Specific provisions are made on individual loans, where management is of the opinion that
collection is doubtful.  A loan is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of
the loan.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the
recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, including amounts
recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at inception
of the loan.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent
recoveries are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of profit or loss.

d)  Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Profit or Loss.

e) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate
entities. Transactions between related parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-
related parties.

f) Loan receivables
Loans are measured at amortised cost less any impairment losses.

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2022
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
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4. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and term deposits with original maturity dates of
90 days or less:

2022
$

2021
$

Cash at bank 2,982,987 514,187

5. Investments

2022
$

2021
$

Commercial deposits 5,150,266 5,061,686
Government issued Series “B” Bonds 3,012,355 3,012,355

Total Investments 8,162,621 8,074,041

Included in investments is an amount of $5,150,266 (March 31, 2021: 5,061,686) representing
commercial deposits with maturity periods greater than 90 days.  At the reporting date the effective
interest rate was 1.75% per annum (March 31, 2021: 1.75% per annum).

The bonds are divided into strips which have terms ranging from five years to fifteen years, and bear
interest at 1% per annum for the first three years, 2.5% in year 4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity.

6. Interest receivable, net

Interest receivable, net consists of interest on loans and investments:

2022
$

2021
$

Interest on loans 319,523 926,707
Interest on investments 40,238 39,568

Total interest receivable, net 359,761 966,275
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
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7. Loans Receivable

The Fund’s loans are carried at amortized cost.  These loans are secured by mortgage debentures and
personal guarantees and are repayable between eight to eleven years. Interest rates were between
5.25% and 10.5% at the end of 2022 (March 31, 2021: 5.25% and 10.5%).

The Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive payment when the Fund recovers any principal
and interest in respect of any loan which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been
written off the books of the Fund.  Such an incentive payment shall be three percent (3%) on the net
amounts recovered.

At March 31, 2022, the maturity profile of loans is as follows:

Years to maturity
Up to

1 year
One to 5

years
Over 5

years
2022

$
2021

$

Business sector 1,889,560 1,862,453 26,668,395 30,420,408 31,398,005
Less allowance for loan
losses (6,274,366) (3,794,919)

24,146,042 27,603,086

8.  Corporation Tax

Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt
from the payment of corporation tax in accordance with Section 56 of the Central Bank of Barbados
Act, Cap. 323 C.

9. Capital Contribution

2022
$

2021
$

Capital contribution 30,000,000 30,000,000

The capital contribution represents the original capital of the Fund provided by the Central Bank of
Barbados.
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10. Due to Related Party

Due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial
year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund
Limited (EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund, using contractual rates.

 Amounts included in due to related party represent outstanding management fees due to EGFL at
year end of $84,208 (March 31, 2021:  $243,522).

 These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts due to Enterprise Growth Fund
Limited are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

11. Commitments

Loan commitments in respect of undisbursed loans at March 31, 2022 were $5,600,000 (March 31,
2021: $0.00).

12. COVID-19

Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19)
outbreak that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative impact on
the operations of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of the Fund will
depend on future developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and spread of the
outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the
effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Due to the
nature of the entity and the limited activity, management does not believe that financial performance
of the Company would be materially impacted.
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
To the Trustee of the BEST Programme 
  
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of the BEST Programme, (the “Programme”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2022, and the statements of loss, 
changes in grant fund and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Programme as of March 31, 2022 and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for 
Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). 

 
Basis for Opinion   
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Programme in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Responsibilit ies of Management and Those Charged w ith Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the IFRS for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Programme's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Programme or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Programme’s financial reporting 
process. 
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BEST Programme 
Statement of Changes in Grant Fund
Year ended March 31, 2022
with comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Fund Total
$ $

Balance at October 28, 2020 -                 -                 
 

Funds received from Government of Barbados 15,000,000     15,000,000     

Grants disbursed (2,946,027)      (2,946,027)      
-                 

Balance at March 31, 2021 12,053,973     12,053,973     
-                 

Fund received from Government of Barbados 65,000,000     65,000,000     
-                 

Grants disbursed (11,533,385)    (11,533,385)    
-                 

Balance at March 31, 2022 65,520,588     65,520,588     

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 5

BEST Programme 
Statement of Loss
Year ended March 31, 2022
with comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Income
Grants received - Matching Component 9,838,643         2,631,290           
Grants received - Fund Programme 1,694,742         314,737              

Total grant income 11,533,385      2,946,027           

Expenses
Grants disbursed - Matching Component 9,838,643         2,631,290           
Bank charges 70,760              5,906                 
Legal fees 287,929            47,881               
Management fees 822,500            117,500              
Professional fees 513,553            143,450              

Total expenses 11,533,385      2,946,027           

Net loss for the year -                    -                    

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 6
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BEST Programme 
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2022
with comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year -                  -               

Operating loss before working capital changes -               
Increase in accounts payable 292,329         10,000          

Net cash from operating activities 292,329         10,000          

Cash flows from financing activities 
Funds received from government 65,000,000    15,000,000    
Grants disbursed (11,533,385)  (2,946,027)     
Client advances disbursed (Note 4) (44,135,074)  (11,448,193)   

Net cash from financing activities 9,331,541      605,780         

Cash  - beginning of year 615,780         -               

Cash - end of year 10,239,650    615,780         

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 7

BEST Programme 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
With comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

8 

1. Establishment and purpose  
 

The Barbados Employment and Sustainable Transformation (BEST) Programme (“the 
Programme”) was established on October 28, 2020 by the Government of Barbados with an 
initial transfer of $10.0 million to stimulate the transformation of the tourism and direct 
tourism related services sectors and to protect employment. The amount of BDS$300.0 million 
initially was pledged in order to help support the tourism sector in response to the social and 
economic impact of Covid-19. 
 
The Programme consists of two (2) major components: 
 
a)  A comprehensive training programme to be implemented with the assistance of the 
National Transformational Initiative (N.T.I);  
 
b)  A Grant and Preference Share Programme to provide for: 
 
 - An Employee Re-Engagement Project 
 - Investment in Greening and Digitisation 
 - Supply Chain Management 
 - Refurbishment and Expansion of Properties 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 

Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Income recognition 
 
Grant income is recognised when the terms of the grant have been fulfilled. Interest income 
represents interest earned on contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed 
rates of interest. All other income is recognised when received. 

Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Programme’s 
functional currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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BEST Programme 
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2022
with comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2022 2021
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year -                  -               

Operating loss before working capital changes -               
Increase in accounts payable 292,329         10,000          

Net cash from operating activities 292,329         10,000          

Cash flows from financing activities 
Funds received from government 65,000,000    15,000,000    
Grants disbursed (11,533,385)  (2,946,027)     
Client advances disbursed (Note 4) (44,135,074)  (11,448,193)   

Net cash from financing activities 9,331,541      605,780         

Cash  - beginning of year 615,780         -               

Cash - end of year 10,239,650    615,780         

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BEST Programme 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
With comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
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1. Establishment and purpose  
 

The Barbados Employment and Sustainable Transformation (BEST) Programme (“the 
Programme”) was established on October 28, 2020 by the Government of Barbados with an 
initial transfer of $10.0 million to stimulate the transformation of the tourism and direct 
tourism related services sectors and to protect employment. The amount of BDS$300.0 million 
initially was pledged in order to help support the tourism sector in response to the social and 
economic impact of Covid-19. 
 
The Programme consists of two (2) major components: 
 
a)  A comprehensive training programme to be implemented with the assistance of the 
National Transformational Initiative (N.T.I);  
 
b)  A Grant and Preference Share Programme to provide for: 
 
 - An Employee Re-Engagement Project 
 - Investment in Greening and Digitisation 
 - Supply Chain Management 
 - Refurbishment and Expansion of Properties 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 

Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Income recognition 
 
Grant income is recognised when the terms of the grant have been fulfilled. Interest income 
represents interest earned on contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed 
rates of interest. All other income is recognised when received. 

Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Programme’s 
functional currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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BEST Programme 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
With comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
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2. Significant accounting policies …continued  
 
Grants 
 
Grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Programme will comply 
with the conditions attached to them and the grants are received.  
 
Grants are recognised in the statement of loss over the period which the Programme 
recognises, as expenses, the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
 
Contributions from government 
 
Contributions from the Government of Barbados (“the Government”) are recorded in the 
Statement of Changes in Grant Fund balance. These represent part of the $300 million 
pledged by the Government to fund the programme over the twenty-four (24) month period. 
Contributions from the Government of Barbados totalled $65,000,000 for the year (2021 - 
$15,000,000).  
 
Taxation 
 
The BEST Programme is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated pool of funds and 
therefore under the Income Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a non-incorporated 
entity. The Income Tax Act, Cap 73 was amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by the 
Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the economy. 
 

3. Cash  
    
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 

 
First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Limited    7,999,802 - 

 RBC Royal Bank Barbados Limited       2,239,848 615,780 
 

                                                             10,239,650 615,780 
   
4. Client advances 

 
Client advances represent cumulative funds disbursed to participating clients in the 
Programme since inception. These have been classified as such pending final execution of the 
Deed of Grant & Equity Investment Agreement (DGEIA). These are illustrated as follows: 
 

   2022 2021 
   $ $ 
 
Employee Re-engagement Component     54,079,600 11,355,222 

 Transformational Investment Component        1,503,667 92,971 
 

                                                                55,583,267 11,448,193 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BEST Programme 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
With comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
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4. Client advances… continued 
 
Of the Deed of Grant and Equity agreements issued, advances relating to preference shares of 
$50,707,011 have been signed to date. No preference shares have been issued. These 
advances bear no interest and will be converted into preferences shares subsequent to March 
31, 2022. 
 
Providing all other legal documentation is finalized, the advances relating to preference shares 
will be converted to such. 
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BEST Programme 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
With comparatives for the period October 28, 2020 to March 31, 2021 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
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4. Client advances… continued 
 
Of the Deed of Grant and Equity agreements issued, advances relating to preference shares of 
$50,707,011 have been signed to date. No preference shares have been issued. These 
advances bear no interest and will be converted into preferences shares subsequent to March 
31, 2022. 
 
Providing all other legal documentation is finalized, the advances relating to preference shares 
will be converted to such. 




